

carbon market



Hannes Jung

Oeko-Institut e.V.

Efraim Hernández Orozco Elvine Kwamboka Francis X. Johnson

Stefan Bößner

Stockholm Environment Institute





Table of Contents

| List o | of Tables | 4 |
|--------|---|----|
| List o | of Abbreviations | 5 |
| Sumn | mary | 6 |
| Kurzf | fassung | 7 |
| 1. | Introduction | 8 |
| 2. | Classification and selection of project types | 9 |
| 3. | Methodological approach | 11 |
| 4. | Case studies | 13 |
| 4.1 | Afforestation | 13 |
| 4.2 | Improved cookstoves | 19 |
| 4.3 | Off-grid PV | 24 |
| 4.4 | Water filters | 29 |
| 4.5 | Contextual aspects and cross-cutting findings | 35 |
| 5. | Conclusions and recommendations | 37 |
| 6. | References | 39 |
| Anne | ex | 48 |



List of Tables

| Table 1: Overview of project types | 9 |
|---|----|
| Table 2: Scoring approach for sustainable development impacts of project types in the VCM | 11 |
| Table 3: Exemplary evaluation of SDG impacts of a random carbon market project at SDG level | 11 |
| Table 4: Sustainable development impacts of afforestation projects | 16 |
| Table 5: Sustainable development impacts of ICS projects | 21 |
| Table 6: Sustainable development impacts of off-grid PV projects | 26 |
| Table 7: Overview of selected water filter projects | 30 |
| Table 8: Sustainable development impacts of water filter projects | 32 |
| Table 9: List of targets selected for the assessment | 48 |

List of Abbreviations

| CFM | Community | Forest I | Management |
|-----|-----------|----------|------------|
|-----|-----------|----------|------------|

GHG Greenhouse Gas

HAP Household Air Pollution

ICS Improved Cookstove(s)

LPG Liquefied Petroleum Gas

NDC Nationally Determined Contributions

PV Photovoltaic

SDG Sustainable Development Goal

TV Television

VCM Voluntary Carbon Market
WHO World Health Organization



Summary

There is increasing acknowledgement that projects in the voluntary carbon market have an impact beyond reducing greenhouse gas emissions. Projects can have additional positive effects on sustainable development, but they can also impair progress on certain sustainable development goals.

This paper assesses the sustainable development impact of four selected project types of the voluntary carbon market: afforestation, improved cookstoves, offgrid photovoltaics and water filters. The assessment draws on the Agenda 2030 with its sustainable development goals and targets as a framework for the analysis.

The results show that all the selected project types have positive sustainable development impacts beyond greenhouse gas emission reductions. Overall, positive impacts were identified for one third to about half of the analyzed sustainable development targets, depending on the project type. Only a few negative impacts were identified.

The assessment also shows that sustainable development impacts are highly contextual. Generalized impacts identified in this report might vary for individual projects in different local contexts. This holds in particular for afforestation projects: many positive impacts were identified but most are also subject to uncertainty depending on the project design and local context.

Improved cookstoves projects seem to positively influence the highest number of targets. Interestingly, the estimated reduction in air pollution from deploying improved cookstoves is still insufficient to meet WHO recommendations. The assessment also identified many

positive sustainable development impacts of off-grid photovoltaics projects, with the main drawback being the end-of-life treatment of the installations. Even though water filter projects are gaining increasing attention in the market, we could not identify a large number of impacts. The sustainable development impact of water filter projects particularly depends on the baseline scenario: boiling water or using untreated water result in very different sustainable development impacts (for example regarding health benefits).

The paper also identified several methodological challenges. For example, the time horizon is an important consideration for assessing sustainable development impacts. For all project types assessed, the impact can significantly change depending on how the devices and installations are maintained throughout the lifetime of the project or how the afforested land is managed and preserved in the long run.

The sustainable development impacts identified in this paper are based on generalized project types of the voluntary carbon market. The results from this paper can be used as an indication of the number and the kind of SDG impacts which can be typically expected from the four project types. Buyers of carbon credits are encouraged to always seek out project-specific information to assess whether the generalized impacts presented here are applicable to the respective project in question. Additionally, carbon credit buyers can achieve further assurance on sustainable development impacts by choosing a carbon crediting program that has robust environmental and social safeguards and provides for a sound assessment of sustainable development impacts.

Kurzfassung

Es wird zunehmend wahrgenommen, dass Projekte auf dem freiwilligen Kohlenstoffmarkt eine Wirkung haben, die über die Reduzierung von Treibhausgasemissionen hinausgeht. Projekte können zusätzliche positive Auswirkungen auf eine nachhaltige Entwicklung haben, aber sie können auch den Fortschritt bei bestimmten Zielen der nachhaltigen Entwicklung beeinträchtigen.

In diesem Papier werden die Auswirkungen von vier ausgewählten Projekttypen des freiwilligen Kohlenstoffmarktes auf eine nachhaltige Entwicklung ausgewertet: Aufforstung, verbesserte Kochherde, netzunabhängige Photovoltaik und Wasserfilter. Die Bewertung stützt sich auf die Agenda 2030 mit ihren nachhaltigen Entwicklungszielen und -unterzielen als Rahmen für die Analyse.

Die Ergebnisse zeigen, dass alle ausgewählten Projekttypen neben der Verringerung der Treibhausgasemissionen auch positive Auswirkungen auf eine nachhaltige Entwicklung haben. Insgesamt wurden je nach Projekttyp für ein Drittel bis etwa die Hälfte der analysierten Ziele für nachhaltige Entwicklung positive Auswirkungen festgestellt. Es wurden nur wenige negative Auswirkungen festgestellt.

Die Bewertung zeigt auch, dass die Auswirkungen auf eine nachhaltige Entwicklung sehr kontextabhängig sind. Die verallgemeinerten Auswirkungen, die in diesem Bericht identifiziert wurden, können für einzelne Projekte in unterschiedlichen lokalen Kontexten variieren. Dies gilt insbesondere für Aufforstungsprojekte: Es wurden viele positive Auswirkungen festgestellt, aber die meisten sind mit Unsicherheiten behaftet, die von der Projektentwicklung und dem lokalen Kontext abhängen.

Projekte zur Verbesserung von Kochherden scheinen die meisten Ziele positiv zu beeinflussen. Interessanterweise ist die geschätzte Verringerung der Luftverschmutzung durch den Einsatz verbesserter Kochherde immer noch nicht ausreichend, um die Empfehlungen der Weltgesundheitsorganisation zu erfüllen. Bei der Bewertung wurden auch viele positive Auswirkungen

von netzunabhängigen Photovoltaik-Projekten auf die nachhaltige Entwicklung festgestellt, wobei der größte Nachteil die Entsorgung der Anlagen am Ende ihrer Lebensdauer ist. Obwohl Wasserfilterprojekte auf dem Markt zunehmend an Bedeutung gewinnen, können wir keine große Anzahl von Auswirkungen feststellen. Die Auswirkungen von Wasserfilterprojekten auf eine nachhaltige Entwicklung hängen insbesondere vom Ausgangsszenario ab: Das Abkochen von Wasser oder die Verwendung von unbehandeltem Wasser führen zu sehr unterschiedlichen Auswirkungen auf eine nachhaltige Entwicklung (z. B. in Bezug auf den Gesundheitsnutzen).

In dem Papier werden auch mehrere methodische Herausforderungen genannt. So ist beispielsweise der Zeithorizont ein wichtiger Aspekt bei der Bewertung der Auswirkungen auf eine nachhaltige Entwicklung. Bei allen untersuchten Projekttypen können sich die Auswirkungen erheblich verändern, je nachdem, wie die Geräte und Anlagen während der gesamten Lebensdauer des Projekts gewartet werden oder wie das aufgeforstete Land langfristig bewirtschaftet und erhalten wird.

Die in diesem Papier ermittelten Auswirkungen auf die nachhaltige Entwicklung basieren auf verallgemeinerten Projekttypen des freiwilligen Kohlenstoffmarktes. Die Ergebnisse dieses Papiers können als Hinweis auf die Anzahl und die Art der Nachhaltigkeitswirkungen dienen, die typischerweise von den vier Projekttypen erwartet werden können. Käufern und Käuferinnen von Emissionsgutschriften wird empfohlen, stets projektspezifische Informationen einzuholen, um zu beurteilen, ob die hier dargestellten generellen Auswirkungen auf das jeweilige Projekt zutreffen. Darüber hinaus können die Käufer und Käuferinnen von Emissionsgutschriften mehr Gewissheit bezüglich der zu erwartenden Auswirkungen auf die Entwicklung erlangen, indem sie sich für ein Programm entscheiden, das über solide Umwelt- und soziale Schutzmaßnahmen verfügt und eine fundierte Bewertung der Auswirkungen auf die nachhaltige Entwicklung vorsieht.



1. Introduction

There is increasing acknowledgement that projects in the voluntary carbon market (VCM) have an impact beyond reducing greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions. Projects can have additional positive effects on sustainable development, such as reducing indoor air pollution through efficient cookstoves, but may also have negative impacts, such as resettlements in the context of large-scale hydro power projects. Climate change mitigation and sustainable development are strongly interlinked as sustainable development can facilitate the necessary transition required for limiting global warming to 1.5°C and vice versa (ICAT 2020; Kolenda et al. 2020; Roy et al. 2018). For example, transforming cities to be more resilient and adaptive for climate change can benefit the urban population by reducing traffic, creating shade and greenery. Vice versa, protecting ecosystems and biodiversity can at the same time increase carbon stocks, like marshlands. It is thus important to leverage these positive development impacts of projects in the VCM. Carbon crediting programs are increasingly developing approaches to assess and document positive and negative sustainable development impacts. This includes requirements or tools to assess sustainable development benefits from projects and make them visible, as well as social and environmental safeguards to avoid, minimize and mitigate adverse impacts (Gold Standard Foundation (2019); Wissner and Schneider (2022).

Promoting positive impacts on sustainable development of projects in the VCM will become more relevant in the future as interest of carbon credit buyers in these benefits is increasing and because the timeframe for the Agenda 2030 is closing in (United Nations 2015b). The VCM has grown considerably in recent years — exceeding a market size of a traded value of 1 billion USD

in 2021 (Ecosystem Marketplace 2021b). Additionality, the adoption of rules for Article 6 of the Paris Agreement at COP26 in November 2021 enables buyers in the VCM to use carbon credits that have been authorized under Article 6.2, thereby avoiding double claiming with nationally determined contributions (NDCs). The likely continuing growth of the market makes it even more important that carbon credit programs properly and transparently assess sustainable development impacts and that carbon credit buyers are aware of the potential synergies and trade-offs between climate change mitigation and sustainable development by projects in the VCM.

While carbon credit programs increasingly aim to label and document sustainable development impacts, there is little information available for carbon credit buyers to date on what impacts can be typically expected from different project types. With this paper, we aim to provide an overview of typical positive and negative sustainable development impacts of four selected project types in the VCM. The paper thereby also illustrates how carbon credit buyers and any interested stakeholders could evaluate sustainable development impacts associated with different project types using a systematic and structured framework.

This paper first provides a classification of project types in the VCM (chapter 2). Based on this classification, four project types are selected: afforestation, improved cookstoves, off-grid photovoltaic, and water filters. The methodological approach is described in chapter 3. The typical sustainable development impacts of the four selected project types are described in chapter 4. The paper concludes with recommendations for carbon credit buyers in the final chapter.

2. Classification and selection of project types

This chapter provides a classification of important project types in the VCM. This classification draws on analyses of the VCM market, such as the Ecosystem Market-place (2021a) and the database by the Berkeley Carbon Trading Project¹, and classifications used elsewhere, like the Clean Development Mechanism (CDM) pipeline by (UNEP 2021), or relevant studies, like Warnecke et al. (2017). We approach the classification from a sectoral perspective and distinguish between broader

project type categories, project types and sub-types of projects. Table 1 provides an overview of the classification.

This classification has been used to select the project types for an in-depth analysis. The authors and the client selected together four project types which cover different sectors, mitigation potentials, shares in the VCM and relevance for the Global South.

Table 1: Overview of project types

| Project type category | Project type | | | |
|---|--|--|--|--|
| Renewables | Wind power, hydropower, solar power/heat, geothermal power/heat, biomass power/heat, tidal power, biofuels, green hydrogen | | | |
| Energy industries | Reduction in oil and gas flaring, leak reduction in natural gas infrastructure, coal mine methane capture, methane reduction from charcoal production | | | |
| Energy efficiency supply- side | Waste heat recovery, combined heat and power, new efficient fossil fuel power plants, district heating, efficient electricity transmission & distribution | | | |
| Energy efficiency de- mand-side & households | Efficient household appliances, household biodigesters, household water supply, building insulations | | | |
| Fossil fuel switch | New natural gas power plants, fossil fuel switch in existing plants | | | |
| Transport | Fleet efficiency, modal shift | | | |
| Industrial emissions | Ozone depleting substances/refrigerants, cement blending, N_2O from adipic acid, N_2O from nitric acid, N_2O from caprolactam, PFCs from aluminum production, SF_6 from magnesia production, SF_6 from transformers, HFC_{23} from $HCFC_{22}$ production | | | |
| Carbon capture | Carbon Capture and Storage (CCS), Carbon Capture and Utilization (CCU) | | | |
| Waste | Landfill gas capture, methane reduction from wastewater, composting, recycling, municipal solid waste (MSW) incineration | | | |
| Agriculture | Manure management, methane reduction from rice cultivation, methane reduction from ruminants, N ₂ O reduction from fertilizer application | | | |
| Land-use change and land management | Afforestation/reforestation, avoided deforestation and forest degradation, improved forest management, improved grassland management, improved cropland management, peatland restoration, avoided conversion or degradation of peatlands, coastal wetland restoration, avoided conversion or degradation of coastal wetlands, jurisdictional REDD+ | | | |

Source: Authors' own analysis based on Warnecke et al. (2017), UNEP (2021), UNFCCC CDM Database for PAs and PoAs² and the Voluntary Registry Offsets Database by Berkeley Carbon Trading Project³

¹ Voluntary Registry Offsets Database by Berkeley Carbon Trading Project: https://gspp.berkeley.edu/faculty-and-impact/centers/cepp/projects/berkeley-carbon-trading-project/offsets-database

² UNFCCC Database for PAs and PoAs, for download here: https://cdm.unfccc.int/Projects/projsearch.html

³ Voluntary Registry Offsets Database by Berkeley Carbon Trading Project: https://gspp.berkeley.edu/faculty-and-impact/centers/cepp/projects/berkeley-carbon-trading-project/offsets-database



In the following, we define the four selected projects and describe briefly why they have been chosen:

- Afforestation (land-use change and land management): Afforestation is the establishment of a forest on previously non-forest land. It is difficult to differentiate further sub-types of afforestation as this depends on the context. Generally, it makes a difference for the mitigation potential and potential sustainable development impacts whether the afforested area consists of a monoculture of a single tree species or whether a species- and age-diverse forest is created. Sustainable development impacts will partially depend on these details of the implementation. Afforestation has been chosen due its popularity in the VCM and potential for GHG emission reductions, and as this project type involves removals.
- Improved cookstoves (energy efficiency demandside & households): Efficient biomass cookstoves - or improved cookstoves (ICS) - are a very popular and wide-spread project sub-type in the VCM with good data and literature availability. A variety of impacts on sustainable development are expected.
- Off-grid PV (renewables): Expanding renewable energy generation is essential for climate change mitigation and thus an important category to include in the case studies. Where households do not have access to a reliable electricity grid, off-grid photovoltaic (PV) systems can be used to generate renewable electricity in remote places, in communities or individual households. This category has been chosen because access to electricity is considered to be essential for sustainable development.
- Water filters (energy efficiency demand-side & households): Water filters are used in households to purify drinking water. If water filters replace the boiling of contaminated water with fossil fuels or non-renewable biomass, the use of water filters can reduce GHG emissions. Water filter projects are currently a small category in the VCM but increasingly gain attention. Moreover, they can be expected to have high sustainable development impacts.

3. Methodological approach

This section describes our methodological approach to assessing typical sustainable development impacts of the selected project types.

For a structured and transparent assessment of sustainable development impacts, categories are useful. The Agenda 2030 with its sustainable development goals (SDGs), adopted in 2015 by the United Nations Member States (United Nations 2015b), is a very useful global framework for assessing the sustainable development impact of projects in the VCM in a systemic and standardized manner. The 17 SDGs, with their 169 targets, are highly interlinked (United Nations 2015a). The progress on one SDG often has an impact on other goals of the framework. From a carbon market perspective, the main purpose of projects in the VCM is to contribute to the achievement of SDG 13 (climate action).

In our further analysis, we assess the impacts of projects in the VCM on SDGs other than SDG 13 – or in other words the interlinkages between SDG 13 and other SDGs for the selected project types. We build on the method used by Oeko-Institut, WWF and EDF (2021) which draws on the concept of a 7-point ordinal

scale from Nilsson et al. (2016). The scale helps to assess the interactions of SDGs by defining seven types of interactions from -3 to +3 which describes the qualitative nature of the interaction, rather than the magnitude of the interaction. Oeko-Institut, WWF and EDF (2021) build on this general scale to apply it in the context of assessing the SDG impact of projects or project types. Table 2 shows the different scorings and the associated SDG impact. Positive scores are highlighted in green and negative scores in red. An exemplary evaluation of SDG impacts at goal level with this method is shown in Table 3. The scoring ranges are colour-coded accordingly: solely positive ranges in green, a range of negative scores in red, and a range including a score of zero in yellow (see score of SDG 10 in Table 3). It is expected that SDG impacts will be contextual and therefore scores cannot be given without uncertainty (Hernández-Orozco et al. 2022). To account for this, the assessments work with ranges (as for SDG 10 in Table 3). A range indicates potential impacts under different circumstances. These circumstances are further described in the justification for each range in the summary tables in chapter 4.

Table 2: Scoring approach for sustainable development impacts of project types in the VCM

| Impact of the project on the SDG | Scoring |
|--|---------|
| Indivisible: The successful implementation of the project automatically delivers progress on this SDG. | 3 |
| Reinforcing: The successful implementation of the project directly makes it easier to make progress on this SDG. | 2 |
| Enabling: The successful implementation of the project indirectly creates conditions that enable progress on this SDG. | 1 |
| Consistent: There is no significant link between the project and this SDG. | 0 |
| Constraining: The successful implementation of the project constrains the options for how to deliver on this SDG. | -1 |
| Counteracting: The successful implementation of the project makes it more difficult to make progress on this SDG. | -2 |
| Cancelling: The successful implementation of the project automatically leads to a negative impact on this SDG. | -3 |

Source: Oeko-Institut, WWF and EDF (2021)

Table 3: Exemplary evaluation of SDG impacts of a random carbon market project at SDG level

| SDG | 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 | 5 | 6 | 7 | 8 | 9 | 10 | 11 | 12 | 13 | 14 | 15 | 16 | 17 |
|-------|---|---|---|---|----|---|---|---|---|--------|----|----|----|----|----|----|----|
| Score | 1 | 0 | 0 | 0 | -1 | 0 | 3 | 0 | 0 | 0 to 1 | 0 | 1 | - | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 |

Source: Based on Oeko-Institut, WWF and EDF (2021).



While the assessment at goal level can provide a good rough estimate of the interaction, an analysis at target level provides a more refined approach and allows for a more detailed analysis of SDG impacts (Day et al. 2020). For example, the International Council of Science (2017) tests the approach of Nilsson et al. (2016) with four selected SDGs. Key interactions are analyzed at target level after a general analysis of the interaction at goal level. An analysis at target level better reflects that there could be positive as well as negative interactions on targets subsumed under one SDG. An assessment only at goal level is not able to properly reflect those cases. However, a comprehensive assessment of sustainable development impacts at target level requires more effort and time because the SDGs encompass 169 targets in total. Weitz et al. (2018), for example, apply the scale from Nilsson et al. (2016) in a crossimpact matrix and conduct a network analysis at national scale for Sweden. The study was conducted at target level as it was considered much more specific. Even though only two targets per SDG were selected as being relevant for the Swedish context, it still resulted in the large amount of 1122 interactions to be analyzed in total.

For the purpose of this study, only interactions between SDG 13 and other SDGs (and their respective targets) are considered relevant. Even though this reduces the number of targets (and potential impacts) to be assessed to 164 targets, a further limitation is necessary. Similar to Weitz et al. (2018), we therefore exclude the 'means of implementation' targets under each SDG and SDG 16 and 17 as they pertain mainly to government actions and are not directly translatable to carbon credit projects. Based on a preliminary literature research on the selected project types (chapter 2) and expert judgement of the authors, we have selected 13 SDGs and 36 targets for the analysis. An overview of the 36 targets can be found in Table 9 in the Annex.

The assessment of sustainable development impacts using the methodology described above (Table 2) is based on a literature review and expert judgment. Where there was a lack of available literature, evidence from implemented projects in the VCM has also been considered. This information was retrieved from program registries, e.g. the Gold Standard Impact registry.⁴

The assessment process includes two steps.

Firstly, the selected project types are defined based on the author's judgment of what projects in the voluntary carbon market typically entail and partially building on definitions used in the Carbon Credit Quality Initiative⁵. This includes a description of the measures undertaken under the project as well as a description of our assumed baseline scenario to which the impacts of the project are compared. Clarifying these assumptions is important, since both the mitigation measures and the baseline scenarios may vary among individual projects.

Secondly, the authors conduct an independent assessment of the impacts of each project type on the 36 targets by using the SDG Synergies Tool⁶. In parallel, a literature review is conducted to assess these. The literature review includes scientific literature as well as relevant grey literature, for example from organizations such as the World Bank. The literature is not necessarily specifically related to the VCM but assesses the impacts of the respective technology or practice more broadly. Subsequently, the scores for each target are compared between the independent assessment of the co-authors and the scores derived from the literature review. Finally, the scores are discussed among the experts and a conclusion on the most likely outcome is derived.

⁴ Gold Standard Impact Registry: https://registry.goldstandard.org

⁵ Carbon Credit Quality Initiative (CCQI): https://carboncreditqual-ity.org/

⁶ SDG Synergies Tool developed by Stockholm Environment Institute: https://www.sdgsynergies.org/

4. Case studies

This chapter presents the assessment of sustainable development impacts for each of the four selected project types. The assessments in Table 4 to Table 8 are based on a literature review and expert judgment as described in the previous chapter. For each project type, we first describe the project type and baseline scenario used for the assessment. We then discuss individual target scores, which are supported by detailed explanations, and general findings for the respective project type. Finally, we discuss the limitations of the applied methodology and summarize findings which pertain to all project types.

4.1 Afforestation

This section presents and discusses the assessment of sustainable development impacts of the project type afforestation.

For the purpose of this paper, afforestation projects are defined as the establishment of a forest on a non-forest land area that is ecologically appropriate for forests, avoiding establishment of forest on naturally non-forested biomes and excluding the boreal region (due to albedo-effects). The focus of the project type is the establishment and long-term increase of a carbon sink in the form of a natural forest. Any utilization of forest resources must be sustainable to ensure that the capacity of the forest as a carbon sink is at least maintained or enhanced. The tree species composition is based on the natural forest type of the area. This project type does not include the restoration of marine coastal ecosystems, such as mangroves.

Individual afforestation projects can be very different in their design and therefore in their impact. Impacts of a land-use change project such as afforestation depend significantly on the local context. Even though we narrowed down the project type in the project definition above, the assessment of a generalized "afforestation" project type is still associated with considerable uncertainties about the impacts. For example, monoculture afforestation would likely have negative sustainable development impacts on biodiversity (Seddon et al. 2020).

Compared to the other project types (sections 4.2 to 4.4), the scores for afforestation in Table 4 therefore include more ranges. Additionally, there is no universal definition of a "sustainable use" of forest resources. The use of forest resources, in contrast to a strictly protected forest with no access by local people, is included in the project type definition as this can enable a variety

of positive sustainable development impacts and participation by the local people.

Table 4 shows the assessment of sustainable development impacts from the afforestation project type. The explanation for each target can be found in Table 9 in the annex. The assessment shows that 12 positive impacts on other targets are identified. 13 targets are assigned varying impacts (shown as ranges). Ranges generally indicate that the (positive and/or negative) impacts only unfold under certain conditions (chapter 3). This is due to the highly contextual nature of impacts from land-use change projects as mentioned above. No significant interaction could be identified with 11 of the 36 targets.

Generally, afforestation projects typically have a positive impact on life on land (SDG 15). The project type directly contributes to target 15.2 by increasing afforestation and promoting sustainable management of forests. Afforestation does not restore water-related ecosystems like forests, but it can promote the conservation and sustainable use of these ecosystems (target 15.1). If afforestation takes place on degraded land, the projects also contribute to target 15.3 by potentially stopping and in some cases reversing land degradation. And finally, a well-designed afforestation project can help to protect or even restore biodiversity (target 15.5). This effect depends on local biodiversity conditions and the biodiversity in the baseline scenario.

The contribution of an afforestation project to **poverty alleviation** (SDG 1) is highly contextual and depends on how forest resources are used. There are also tradeoffs between short-term livelihood imperatives and the long timescales intrinsic to forest growth. Forests can help people diversify their income, accumulate savings and move out of poverty, e.g., through the sale of forest



products, ecotourism and the enhancement of livelihoods-supporting ecosystem services. Especially cooperative approaches and community forest management (CFM) might yield significant benefits. Furthermore, forests are deemed safety nets which can smooth people's income and consumption in times of external shocks such as floods, landslides or pandemics. As the manifestation of these positive impacts depends on assumptions not included in the project definition, the score assigned to targets 1.1 and 1.2 ranges between zero and two.

Interestingly, there might be mixed impacts on the goal of zero hunger (SDG 2). To end hunger and increase access to food (target 2.1), protected forests can, on the one hand, increase pressure on food production systems by hindering their expansion in response to market shifts or climate change and degradation. On the other hand, forest-related food, such as fruits, seeds and wild meat, have an important role in the diet patterns of some communities - even more so in crises and after crop failure. Fuelwood for cooking, fodder trees and forest ecosystem services with positive externalities to agricultural systems can further benefit food security. Again, it should be emphasized that the long timescales intrinsic to forest growth hamper these benefits from materializing for a considerable time after project implementation. The increase in competition for land might provide incentives for greater agricultural productivity (target 2.3), which might be further facilitated by tools made of non-timber forest products, such as axe and machete handles, baskets and sieves. Besides, forests can contribute to farmland pollination and seed dispersal through forest-based vertebrate pollinators. An afforested area can also provide fuelwood in proximity to farmland which enables farmers to better dedicate time to their crops by reducing distances for fuelwood collection. These effects as well as shifts in harvest output and non-farm employment remain highly contextual, however. Afforested areas likely contribute to ensuring sustainable food production systems and implement resilient agricultural practices (target 2.4) by providing shelter for critical vertebrate pollinators and diverse genetic material as well as by reducing soil erosion and by acting as a buffer for nitrate leakage.

We identified a few targets with a negative score as part of a range for this project type. With another definition of the project type (e.g., monocultures), the picture likely changes. The only target which is always negatively impacted by afforestation (score -1 to -2) is target 6.4 on water scarcity and efficiency. Although afforestation can have a positive effect on safe drinking water and water quality (targets 6.1 and 6.3), forests need great quantities of water to grow and sustain compared to most crops and other types of vegetation. This negatively affects local water availability. The magnitude of the water consumption is nonetheless dependent on factors such as tree species composition and tree density.

A conflict of objective arises when we consider the interaction between afforestation and affordable and clean energy (SDG 7). The project definition includes the sustainable harvesting of forest resources. It does not, however, prescribe how the forest resources, such as woody biomass, are ultimately used. Wood, if harvested sustainably, is a renewable resource. From a climate perspective, carbon captured in woody biomass is ideally used as long as possible. Its lifetime should be extended before the wood is used energetically at the end of its life, releasing carbon back into the atmosphere. Thus, the prolonged use of woody biomass (e.g., as furniture or for construction) should usually be prioritized compared to an energetic use (e.g. as fuelwood for cooking). The use of woody biomass as fuelwood can however offer positive impacts under SDG 7. Sustainably harvested fuelwood can provide access to affordable and reliable energy (target 7.1), but it cannot be considered a modern and clean fuel if it is not combined with proper technologies, such as improved cookstoves. Depending on the magnitude of the sustainable harvesting, using fuelwood for cooking can increase the share of renewable energy if households would otherwise use fossil fuels (target 7.2). Therefore, the provision of fuelwood poses a trade-off with the desired carbon sink of the afforested area. This is represented in the low positive scores for these two targets. Additionally, the impact depends on the extent to which (fuel-) wood might be collected from the afforested area and how it might be used (e.g. for cooking or as building material).

In conclusion, afforestation contributes by its nature to targets under SDG 15 on life on land. Moreover, there are many positive impacts on poverty alleviation, food, health and well-being, and water quality. The manifestation and magnitude of these positive impacts depends, however, on the specific design and local context where the project is implemented. Afforestation projects can therefore have multiple benefits beyond GHG emission reduction and removal, but they require a thoughtful design to achieve these desired outcomes. The conflict of objectives between forests as a carbon sink and the benefits of economically using fuelwood and timber is a challenge inherent to this project type.



Table 4: Sustainable development impacts of afforestation projects

| SDG target | Score | Key findings | Literature sources in addition to expert input |
|---------------|---------|---|--|
| 1.1 | 0 to 2 | The contribution of forests to poverty alleviation is highly contextual. However, forests can help people diversify their income, ac- | Angelsen et al. (2014), Cheng et al. (2017), Miller et al. (2020), Gutiérrez |
| 1.2 | 0 to 2 | cumulate savings and move out of poverty, e.g. through inclusive approaches like CFM. | Rodríguez et al. (2016) |
| 1.4 | 1 to 2 | Depending on the local implementation and design, a project could include facilitate access to forest resources for the poor and vulnerable households that live nearby. | - |
| 2.1 | -1 to 2 | While afforested areas might increase pressure on food production systems, if these areas were previously used for agriculture and by hindering agriculture to expand in response to market shifts or climate change and degradation, forest-related food and fuelwood for cooking can benefit local communities. The benefits might be hampered by the long timescales of forest growth. | Vira et al. (2015), Aju (2014), Sunderland et al. (2013), Rowland et al. (2017), Krause and Tilker (2022), Obersteiner et al. (2016) |
| 2.3 | 1 to 2 | The increase in competition for land might give incentives for greater agricultural productivity, which might be further facilitated by tools made of non-timber forest products. Besides, forests can contribute to farmland pollination and seed dispersal and provide fuelwood in proximity to farms. These effects remain highly contextual, however. | Aju (2014), Krause and Tilker (2022), Gutiérrez Rodríguez et al. (2016) |
| 2.4 | 2 | Beyond providing shelter for critical vertebrate pollinators, natural forests feature upmost diverse genetic material which can be utilized for breeding more resilient crops. Furthermore, forests reduce soil erosion and can act as a buffer for nitrate leakage from surrounding agriculture. | Aju (2014), Sunderland et al. (2013), Krause and Tilker (2022) |
| 3.4 | -1 to 1 | Forests and wildlife have major well-being benefits across different cultural contexts. Therefore, it is critical to permit adjacent community access to forests and culturally important forest products, such as wild meat and medicine. However, forestry accidents could occur if occupational safety regulations are poor. | McFarlane et al. (2019), Krause and Tilker (2022) |
| 3.9 | 1 | Additional tree cover can remove pollutants from air and soil (under specific conditions through phytoremediation). However, a vast number of trees would be needed to be effective on reducing deaths and illnesses. | - |
| 4.2 | 0 | No interesting identified | - |
| 4.3 | 0 | No interaction identified. | - |
| 5.1 | -1 to 1 | Examples of both gender-inclusive projects and patriarchal forest decision-making structures in some communities show that the outcome of afforestation projects on target 5.1 is highly contextual. | Arora-Jonsson et al. (2019), Boyer- Rechlin (2010) |

| SDG target | Score | Key findings | Literature sources in addition to expert input |
|---------------|----------|--|---|
| 6.1 | 1 | By improving stream water quality, forests may reduce the costs of water treatment, thus contributing to safe and affordable drinking water. | Amezaga et al. (2019) |
| 6.3 | 1 to 2 | Afforestation which takes place on agricultural land can improve water quality through avoided fertilization and pesticide use. | Jackson et al. (2005), Amezaga et al. (2019) |
| 6.4 | -1 to -2 | Compared to other vegetation, forests need great quantities of water to grow and be sustained. Although context-dependent, this poses a trade-off with the benefits of forests on other water-related targets. | Ellison et al. (2017), Amezaga et al. (2019), Ilstedt et al. (2016) |
| 6.6 | 0 | According to our project definition, afforestation takes place on non-forest land, excluding natural biomes, and therefore has no impact on either the restoration or the protection of water-related ecosystems | - |
| 7.1 | 1 | Sustainably harvested fuelwood can provide access to affordable and reliable energy. However, it cannot be considered modern, if not combined with proper technologies, such as ICS. Additionally, the prolonged use of woody biomass (e.g. as furniture) should be prioritized compared to an energetic use from a climate perspective. | - |
| 7.2 | 0 to 1 | Depending on the magnitude of the sustainable harvesting, using fuelwood for cooking can increase the share of renewable energy if households previously used fossil fuels. However, the prolonged use of woody biomass (e.g. as furniture) should be prioritized compared to an energetic use from a climate perspective. | - |
| 7.3 | 0 | No interaction identified. | - |
| 8.3 | 0 to 1 | Income-generating approaches like locally-controlled forest businesses can yield positive impacts. It remains unclear, however, to what extent these concepts are applied in VCM projects. | Macqueen et al. (2020) |
| 8.4 | 0 to 1 | If sustainably harvested wood is used for economically productive purposes, it can slightly contribute to decoupling economic growth from environmental degradation. | - |
| 8.5 | 0 to 1 | Although contextual, afforestation projects can support job creation and employment. | Gutiérrez Rodríguez et al. (2016), Kim et al. (2021) |
| 9.2 | 0 | | - |
| 9.4 | 0 | No interaction identified. | - |
| 10.1 | 1 | Poor households may particularly benefit since forests tend to have a more important role for them than for higher income deciles. | Angelsen et al. (2014) |
| 11.1 | 0 to 1 | If combined with incentives for the use of improved wood-based construction materials, there is a weak contribution to improved housing in some areas. | - |
| 11.4 | 0 to 1 | Various cultural values might be enhanced by the afforested areas (target 3.4). | - |
| 11.6 | 0 | No interaction identified. | - |



| SDG target | Score | Key findings | Literature sources in addition to expert input |
|---------------|--------|--|--|
| 12.2 | 2 | The various natural resources generated by afforestation, both timber and non-timber resources such as forest food, are meant to be sustainably managed by our project definition. | - |
| 12.3 | 0 | | - |
| 12.4 | 0 | No interaction identified. | - |
| 12.5 | 0 | | - |
| 15.1 | 2 | Although not restoring water-related ecosystems (unlike reforestation), afforestation can promote their conservation and sustainable use. | - |
| 15.2 | 3 | Afforestation projects deliver progress on this target by increasing afforestation and the sustainable use of forest resources. | - |
| 15.3 | 0 to 3 | Depending on the area, afforestation can be very effective in stopping and reversing land degradation. | Smith et al. (2013) |
| 15.5 | 1 to 2 | Afforestation helps to conserve and restore biodiversity, depending on the biodiversity in the baseline scenario. | Smith et al. (2013), Kim et al. |
| 15.9 | 0 | No interaction identified. | - |

Note: A list with explanations of the targets can be found in Table 9 in the Annex.

4.2 Improved cookstoves

This section presents and discusses the assessment of sustainable development impacts of the project type *improved cookstoves (ICS)*.

This project type is defined as the distribution of improved fuelwood or charcoal cookstoves to households or institutions (e.g. schools), thereby replacing the use of less energy efficient cookstoves. The ICS provide for better combustion and improved heat transfer. The baseline is the use of traditional cookstoves fuelled by fuelwood or charcoal. The ICS rely on the same type of fuel, thus excluding the use of energy crops as fuel or fossil fuels such as liquified petroleum gas (LPG).

Households often practice fuel or stove stacking, a phenomenon of using multiple stove and cooking fuel combinations within the same household. This phenomenon can impair the anticipated effects of implementing ICS projects (Ruiz-Mercado and Masera 2015), e.g. by reducing the desired efficiency gains and emission reductions from ICS. According to Zhang and Ochieng (2020), a major reason for stacking is saving time by cooking more than one meal simultaneously. It was also shown that a larger meal size and thus pot size could only fit on traditional cookstoves and not on ICS. Deploying two-burner ICS can reduce the need for stacking significantly (Zhang and Ochieng 2020). As various cookstoves are deployed in the VCM, we refrain from including the exact design or a single design of ICS (material, portable or fixed, one- or two-burner) in the project definition. Additionally, the monitoring of VCM projects usually considers stacking.

For this project type, positive impacts are identified on 20 targets. The assessment is shown in Table 5. There is a potential positive impact (see method in section 3) on three additional targets (meaning a range from zero to plus one, two or three). No interaction was identified for 13 out of the 36 targets. Compared to the other project types, ICS positively influence the highest number of targets.

ICS have a clear positive impact on poverty reduction (SDG 1) by allowing households to save on fuel expenses and potentially creating job opportunities along the stove value chain (targets 1.1 and 1.2). Additionally, the use of ICS saves time which could be spent on

business or other activities. This particularly affects women who typically take care of cooking and collecting fuelwood. These aspects also create a positive impact on targets 8.3 and 8.5 on job creation and decent work.

The use of ICS can also have a strong impact on the targets under SDG 2 on zero hunger. Since fuelwood collection and charcoal production can have massive environmental impacts, such as land degradation and loss of watershed functions, reducing biomass consumption takes pressure from agricultural systems, thereby increasing food security (target 2.1). Moreover, the use of ICS can lead to more nutritious meals through improved cooking practices and an increase in the time available for preparing meals. The reduced pressure on agricultural systems through reduced biomass consumption for cooking also helps to increase agricultural productivity (target 2.3).

The health benefits of ICS are often promoted as their core positive impact on sustainable development (SDG 3 on good health and well-being) since household air pollution (HAP), which is mainly caused by traditional cookstoves, is a major cause of respiratory diseases, such as pneumonia and lung cancer as well as strokes and heart diseases, among others. Although ICS can lower particulate matter and CO concentrations by more than 50% compared to traditional three-stone open fire cookstoves (Pope et al. 2017), studies show that the level of HAP achieved by ICS is still well above the recommendations by the World Health Organization (WHO) (Mazorra et al. 2020; Amegah and Jaakkola 2016; ESMAP 2015). Target 3.9 focuses on "substantially reduc[ing] the number of deaths and illnesses from hazardous chemicals and air, water and soil pollution and contamination" (Table 9). As the decline in HAP levels from ICS is not sufficient to meet WHO recommendations, the literature reveals that the exposure of affected households is still too high to significantly reduce the number of HAP-related deaths and illnesses. Clean fuels such as electricity, LPG and biogas appear to be more capable and cost-effective in addressing target 3.9. The project type thus scores plus 2 on this target.

The positive impacts for nutrition and - to a smaller extent - HAP in turn create a potential positive impact on



childhood development and education (targets 4.2 and 4.3) as ICS could facilitate the development of children by preparing nutritious meals and snacks and reducing HAP, albeit not to the desired degree. If the workload (fuel collection and cooking) for women and children is reduced, they might suffer less from fatigue which in turn could lead to higher attendance in school and facilitates learning.

A very important impact of the project type is the one concerning gender equality and empowering women (SDG 5). The responsibility as well as the associated risks of collecting fuel, feeding stoves, and cooking typically falls on women and girls. Women spend several hours a day on collecting fuelwood and cooking, meaning that they have little time to take part in any other activities. Time savings from collecting fuel and cooking enable women to spend more time caring for children, increase their ability to pursue income generating and educational opportunities, and/or leadership roles. The use of ICS reduces the time of women spent on cooking and thereby facilitates progress on gender equality and ending discrimination (target 5.1). Furthermore, as women are the main users of cookstoves, they would benefit the most from reduced health risks.

The deployment of ICS has a direct positive impact on the goal of affordable and clean energy (SDG 7) as ICS are more energy efficient than traditional cookstoves. The project type thus increases the global rate of improvement in energy efficiency (target 7.3).

The collection of fuelwood and production of charcoal can lead to deforestation and forest degradation at the local level. By requiring less fuel input, ICS deployment reduces the pressure on forest ecosystems and thereby contributes to achieving progress on the relevant targets under SDG 15 (life on land), namely 15.1, 15.2 and 15.3.

To summarize, ICS projects potentially have various positive impacts on sustainable development. While ICS clearly contribute to energy efficiency, they also positively impact livelihoods and reduce deforestation and degradation of forest. The switch to ICS from traditional cookstoves significantly lowers the levels of HAP; however, the remaining level of HAP is still above WHO recommendations. A major uncertainty for the SDG

impacts is the behavioural change over time regarding stacking. This is further discussed in section 4.5.

Table 5: Sustainable development impacts of ICS projects

| SDG target | Score | Key findings | Literature sources in addition to expert input |
|---------------|--------|---|--|
| 1.1 | 2 | ICS enable users to cut their expenses on fuelwood/charcoal and free up funds for other needs, though it is likely still costlier than consuming modern fuels. Furthermore, there can be new income opportunities along | García-Frapolli et al. (2010), Bensch and Peters (2015), Aemro et al. (2021), |
| 1.2 | 2 | the stove value chain. | Karanja and Gasparatos (2019) |
| 1.4 | 1 | ICS can provide the basic service of energy security to households that depend on traditional energy carriers. While this benefits all household members, it particularly helps poor women. | Karanja and Gasparatos (2019) |
| 2.1 | 3 | Since fuelwood collection and charcoal production can have massive environmental impacts, such as land degradation and loss of watershed functions, reducing biomass consumption takes pressure from agricultural systems, thereby increasing food security. Moreover, the use of ICS can lead to more nutritious meals through improved cooking practices. | Karanja and Gasparatos (2019), Muller (2009) |
| 2.3 | 3 | Taking pressure from agricultural systems (target 2.1), reduced biomass consumption can increase agricultural productivity. | Karanja and Gasparatos (2019) |
| 2.4 | 0 to 3 | If ICS reduce the amount of crop wastes gathered as biomass fuel, this waste can be plowed back as organic manure instead, thereby enhancing soil quality compared to the baseline. | |
| 3.4 | 3 | Reducing the amount of fuelwood needed, ICS make users less prone to diseases related to fuelwood collection such as musculoskeletal damage. | WHO (2021) |
| 3.9 | 2 | ICS significantly reduce the level of HAP. However, levels of air pollution of ICS are still considered higher than WHO recommendations. | Pope et al. (2017), Schilmann et al. (2019), Rosenthal et al. (2018; Amegah and Jaakkola), Amegah and Jaakkola (2016), Mazorra et al. (2020), Hanna et al. (2016), Kammila et al. (2014), World Health Organization (2016), Vivid Economics (2019) |
| 4.2 | 0 to 2 | ICS might facilitate the preparation of nutritious meals and snacks for proper development of the children. Reduced indoor air pollution also benefits young children. | Dherani et al. (2008) |
| 4.3 | 0 to 1 | Decreasing the workload of women and children (fuel collection and cooking) might lead to higher school attendance in some cases and less fatigue, which then facilitates learning. | Kelly (2018) |
| 5.1 | 2 to 3 | The responsibility of collecting fuel, feeding stoves, and cooking mostly falls on women and girls. They therefore benefit from the use of ICS through a reduction of time poverty, a reduction of health risk, and potential job opportunities. | Mazorra et al. (2020), Aemro et al. (2021), Romieu et al. (2009), Karanja and Gasparatos (2019), Shankar et al. (2014) |
| 6.1 | 0 | No interaction identified. | |



| SDG target | Score | Key findings | Literature sources in addition to expert input |
|---------------|--------|---|---|
| 6.3 | 0 | | |
| 6.4 | 0 | | |
| 6.6 | 1 to 2 | Reducing the amount of biomass needed can have a positive impact on forests that act as water catchments. | Karanja and Gasparatos (2019) |
| 7.1 | 1 to 2 | ICS can contribute to a better energy security of households that depend on traditional energy carriers by reducing the amount of fuel needed and its expenditures. | Karanja and Gasparatos (2019), Sagbo (2014), Vivid Economics (2019) |
| 7.2 | 0 | The use of ICS does not increase the share of renewable energy - although ICS can be integrated with other forms of renewable energy at household and community level. | |
| 7.3 | 3 | ICS are more energy efficient than traditional cookstoves. | Bensch and Peters (2015), Aemro et al. (2021), García-Frapolli et al. (2010) |
| 8.3 | 2 | There can be many job opportunities along the stove value chain, which might be curbed by imported cookstoves crowding out local producers, however. The use of ICS saves time which can be spent on other business activities. | Karanja and Gasparatos (2019), Karhunmaa (2016) |
| 8.4 | 3 | By using less fuelwood or charcoal, ICS increase the resource efficiency of consumption. | Bensch and Peters (2015), Aemro et al. (2021), García-Frapolli et al. (2010) |
| 8.5 | 2 | There can be job opportunities along the stove value chain with salaries potentially above the minimum wage. The use of ICS saves time which can be spent on other business activities. | Karanja and Gasparatos (2019) |
| 9.2 | 0 | No interaction identified | |
| 9.4 | 0 | No interaction identified. | |
| 10.1 | 1 | ICS can improve economic opportunities, especially within communities in low income, resource-dependent, and rural regions. | |
| 11.1 | 0 | No interaction identified. | |
| 11.4 | 0 | No interaction identified. | |

| SDG target | Score | Key findings | Literature sources in addition to expert input |
|---------------|--------|--|--|
| 11.6 | 1 | By applying ICS in communities, outdoor air pollution can be reduced at community level. | World Health Organization (2016), Smith et al. (2014) |
| 12.2 | 3 | By using less fuelwood or charcoal, ICS contribute to a more efficient use of natural resources. | Bensch and Peters (2015), García-Frapolli et al. (2010) |
| 12.3 | 0 | | |
| 12.4 | 0 | No interesting identified | |
| 12.5 | 0 | No interaction identified. | |
| 15.1 | 0 | | |
| 15.2 | 2 to 3 | The use of ICS reduces pressure on forests and thus reduces deforestation rates. | Sovacool (2012), Vivid Economics (2019), Karanja and Gasparatos (2019), Amegah and Jaakkola (2016), Bailis et al. (2015) |
| 15.3 | 2 | The use of ICS reduces pressure on forests and thus helps to reduce land degradation. | Sovacool (2012) |
| 15.5 | 2 | By reducing pressure on forests, the project type helps to reduce deforestation and thus benefits natural habitats and biodiversity. | Karanja and Gasparatos (2019), Giam (2017), Allnutt et al. (2008) |
| 15.9 | 0 | No interaction identified. | |

Note: A list with explanations of the targets can be found in Table 9 in the Annex.



4.3 Off-grid PV

This section presents and discusses the assessment of sustainable development impacts of the project type off-grid PV.

This project type includes the provision of small-scale off-grid PV installations to individual households for electricity generation (for lighting, battery charging or powering small appliances like televisions). It is assumed that the PV installation includes battery storage. A maintenance service by local technicians is included. These small-scale installations replace the use of fossil fuels, such as kerosene-based or LPG lamps, candles or battery-driven lamps.

We do not consider the impacts of the production of PV modules as this would significantly add to the complexity of the assessment. The production of PV modules can have negative impacts on the environment and humans through the conditions at the extraction site for rare earths etc., such as environmental pollution, water use, risk of child labour and other risks. Potential negative of an inappropriate disposal of PV modules is, however, included in the analysis and discussed below in relation to SDG 12.

Overall, 15 positive sustainable development impacts are identified with off-grid PV projects. A further three are only potentially positive impacts (see ranges in Table 6). Except for target 12.4, no potential negative impacts can be identified. The project type does not have any significant impact on 18 of the 36 targets.

Even though no major direct economic benefit or income generation can be expected, off-grid PV helps the poorest to save on fossil fuels, like LPG, batteries or candles. This positive impact on the goal of no poverty (SDG 1) within targets 1.1 and 1.2 might by hampered by potential debt traps if finance models are not adapted to the situation of the (rural) poor. What financial models are used to deploy the installations lies beyond the scope of the project type definition. It is assumed, however, that well-designed off-grid PV projects would take this into account or that installations are subsidized with revenues from the carbon credits. In addition, the literature suggests that income generation impacts are negligible. Therefore, the implementation of an off-grid PV project only enables progress on

target 1.1 and 1.2 on poverty alleviation, which leads to a plus one result according to Table 2.

The project type definition includes the creation of maintenance jobs, even though it does not specify the number of jobs created or who gets employed. The project type thus has a positive impact on target 8.3 which concerns job creation, entrepreneurship, and the formation of businesses. There might be an additional positive but rather indirect impact on business activity as the distribution of off-grid PV installations within a village increases the access to electricity which makes charging cell phones and running a television (TV) easier. With technical devices becoming more common in rural areas globally, new business models can emerge, such as the provision of mobile payment services, data packages and charging services at local shops and maintenance tasks for cell phones and TVs. Direct solar energy entrepreneurship might be unlikely, however, as most components are imported and off-grid PV installations might be set-up by external professionals. Any potential job creations through the project type need to be compared with the baseline situation where jobs in the candle or LPG industry exist. The project might reduce the number of jobs in those industries depending on how many households switch to off-grid PV in a certain area. Overall, the net effect is considered to be positive, which results in a varied positive impact on target 8.3 depending on the economic activity stimulated.

The major impact of off-grid PV projects on health mainly results from replacing unsafe household light sources. The use of the latter is associated with various risks, such as burns, accidental injuries, and ingestions. Thus, instead using electricity from off-grid PV improves health and well-being (SDG 3) in terms of noncommunicable diseases (target 3.4). Raising awareness through greater connectivity to TV or access to the internet via charged smartphones (see above) may further contribute to lowering the prevalence of diseases. This additional effect assumes a behavioural change in relation to how the electricity is used. Kerosene-based lighting can have detrimental effects on health and is a source of HAP whereas the use of dry-cell batteries can truly in lead-poisoning if accidentally ingested (e.g. by children) or through contact with contaminated

surfaces (if batteries are not disposed properly). While off-grid PV can substantially reduce baseline-related health risks from air and soil pollution (target 3.9), it can itself harm human health in different ways if not disposed appropriately (see below).

Electricity provided by the off-grid PV installation might empower women and thus contribute to the gender equality goal (SDG 5). If women have access to electricity, it is likely that they attain access to new information educational resources (like the TV or smartphones), which in turn might increase their chances of obtaining employment and might empower them. This depends, however, on women's involvement in the decision-making process on the use of the electricity. The literature indicates that women often have less power than men in deciding how the electricity is used. Careful design of off-grid PV projects - and including women in the design process - can help to make progress on target 5.1. Furthermore, it is indicated that women can outperform men in selling energy products, which would make it attractive to offer them entrepreneurial and employment opportunities in such projects.

An important finding for off-grid PV project types is the trade-off between the price and the quality of solar modules affecting the goal of affordable and clean energy (SDG 7). Target 7.1 addresses "universal access to affordable, reliable and modern energy services" (Table 9). It is unlikely that off-grid PV can deliver all these aspects at the same time. Low-quality and inexpensive installations are more affordable and thus accessible for a larger number of people. High-quality installations might be more expensive but offer a more reliable energy service. The quality of off-grid PV installations likely impacts its lifetime and repairability, thus influencing targets 12.4 and 12.5. Additionally, the aspect of "universal access" in target 7.1 is further influenced by the distribution of off-grid PV installations within a given community. Existing power structures might be reproduced if those persons within a community receive installations which already have more power than others (e.g. the chief of a village). As a consequence, the access and the benefits (e.g., less money spent on fossil fuels) might not be distributed fairly, which further limits the positive impact of the project type on target 7.1.

Another important aspect is the recycling and disposal of solar installations compared to the waste generated in the baseline (responsible consumption and production - SDG 12). Dry-cell batteries are often simply

disposed in backyard holes and can thereby severely pollute the environment and harm humans (see health impacts). The use of off-grid PV can therefore reduce or avoid the unsound disposal of dry-cell batteries. In addition, batteries connected to the installation last longer than dry-cell batteries. This results in a very positive impact on target 12.4 (environmentally sound management of chemicals and all wastes throughout their life cycle). The positive impact is though challenged by the recycling and disposal of the off-grid PV installation itself and the batteries used for storage. If not appropriately recycled or disposed, the implementation of an off-grid PV might even lead to a negative outcome compared to the baseline as this can result in major harmful effects on human health and the environment, such as lead-poisoning, skin burns and soil acidification.

Compared to target 12.4, target 12.5 does not focus on harmful chemicals but the waste hierarchy. The use of off-grid PV avoids the waste generated from dry-cell batteries. Where VCM projects are implemented, it is very likely that there is no recycling system for batteries in place. Although context-dependent, presumable deficits in the repair, re-use and recycling of off-grid PV installations hamper the positive impact on target 12.5, resulting in a range for this target in Table 6.

To conclude, off-grid PV projects might have a range of positive impacts on sustainable development besides an increase in renewable energy supply. The trade-off between the price and the quality of the installations needs to be kept in mind when assigning SDG impacts. A cause of uncertainty is the recycling potential and the end-of-life management of the installations which highly depends on the local context. Furthermore, to reap potential benefits for sustainable development, project designs need to account for existing power structures within households (target 5.1) but also within a community (target 7.1).



Table 6: Sustainable development impacts of off-grid PV projects

| SDG target | Score | Key findings | Literature sources in addition to expert input |
|---------------|-------|---|--|
| 1.1 | 1 | Solar off-grid installations help to save on fossil fuels for electricity generation and thus help to alleviate poverty. Depending on the system used and finance model deployed, this slightly positive impact might be compensated by potential | Stojanovski et al. (2017), Feron (2016), Grimm |
| 1.2 | 1 | debts from acquiring the installation. | et al. (2016), Rahman and Ahmad (2013) |
| 1.4 | 2 | Electricity through solar power enables/improves the user's access to technology such as televisions and cell phones with the latter allowing in turn the use of mobile payment services. However, the access and the use of these technologies and basic services might be unequal within one household or within one community (target 10.1). | Shammin and Haque (2022), Stojanovski et al. (2017), Kizilcec and Parikh (2020) |
| 2.1 | 1 | The access to electricity through solar power can improve a meal's nutritional quality since situations in which cooking must be hastily done in an environment of insufficient light can be avoided. | Asaduzzaman et al. (2013) |
| 2.3 | 0 | No taken alter the attent | - |
| 2.4 | 0 | No interaction identified. | - |
| 3.4 | 3 | Replacing unsafe household light sources, solar off-grid installations have the potential to avoid the risk of burns, accidental ingestions, and compromised visibility. Awareness raising through greater connectivity to television (target 1.4) may further contribute to lowering the prevalence of diseases. | Mills (2016), WHO (2021), Kizilcec and Parikh (2020) |
| 3.9 | 2-3 | Replacing unsafe household light sources, solar off-grid installations have the potential to avoid the risk of HAP from kerosene combustion and lead poisoning from batteries. However, there is a risk that unsafe disposal of solar installation might contaminate water and soil. | Mills (2016), Ortega et al. (2021), Manhart et al. (2018), World Health Organization (2016) |
| 4.2 | 2 | The lighting provided by the solar installation promotes the health of children as HAP is avoided and provides more reliable and better lighting for children to study. | Vivid Economics (2019), Bisaga (2019), Kizilcec and Parikh (2020) |
| 4.3 | 0 | No interaction identified. | - |
| 5.1 | 1 | Electricity provided by the solar installation might give women access to new information sources (e.g. TV) facilitating education and empowerment. This depends, however, on women's involvement in the decision-making process as regards the use of the electricity. Furthermore, it is indicated that women can outperform men in selling energy products, which would make it attractive to offer them entrepreneurial and employment opportunities. | Asaduzzaman et al. (2013), Olubayo and Oguegbu (2020), Winther et al. (2018), Feron (2016), Pueyo (2020) |
| 6.1 | 0 | No interaction identified. | - |

| SDG target | Score | Key findings | Literature sources in addition to expert input |
|---------------|--------|--|---|
| 6.3 | 0 | | - |
| 6.4 | 0 | | - |
| 6.6 | 0 | | - |
| 7.1 | 2 | While the provision of solar off-grid installation clearly contributes to 7.1, there is a trade-off between the price (universal access and affordability) and the quality of installations (reliability). Existing power structures within communities might be reproduced in terms of the access/use of solar off-grid installations and fuel saving benefits. | Groenewoudt et al. (2020) |
| 7.2 | 3 | Significantly reducing the consumption of kerosene, candles and batteries, solar off-grid installations can elevate the share of renewable energy. | Stojanovski et al. (2017), Grimm et al. (2016), Asaduzzaman et al. (2013) |
| 7.3 | 0 | There is no clear interaction here as the energy efficiency depends on the technological composition of the solar module and the energy efficiency of the devices used in the baseline. | Imu et al. (2021) |
| 8.3 | 1 to 2 | Maintenance jobs are created (project definition). Indirectly, business activity can be facilitated or created (e.g. providing charging for appliance for cell phones, thus enabling mobile payment services). Direct solar energy entrepreneurship might be hampered as most components are imported. | Shammin and Haque (2022), Feron (2016), IRENA (2018), Groenewoudt et al. (2020) |
| 8.4 | 0 to 1 | The resource efficiency of a PV system depends on its materials and the product lifetime but might perform better compared to the baseline. | Gervais et al. (2021), Bisaga et al. (2021) |
| 8.5 | 1 to 2 | Same justification as target 8.3. | IRENA (2018), Groenewoudt et al. (2020) |
| 9.2 | 0 | | - |
| 9.4 | 0 | There is no impact on a large scale in terms of expected industry. | - |
| 10.1 | 0 to 1 | If maintenance jobs are given to the local population (target 8.3), there might be a positive impact. | - |
| 11.1 | 2 | Replacing unsafe household light sources, solar off-grid installations make living environments generally safer (targets 3.4 and 3.9). However, there are specific safety risks related to the system's batteries. While it is primarily rural areas benefiting, solar off-grid installations can also serve informal urban settlements without grid connection. | Bisaga et al. (2021), Manhart, A. and Latt, K. and Hilbert, I. (2018) |
| 11.4 | 0 | No tobaccation ideals Cod | - |
| 11.6 | 0 | No interaction identified. | - |



| SDG target | Score | Key findings | Literature sources in addition to expert input |
|---------------|---------|--|--|
| 12.2 | 0 | The efficient use of materials depends on the lifetime of the installation and how it is taken care of. As this assessment is not including the time dimension and as the impact depends on the design of the project, the interaction cannot be properly considered here. | Gervais et al. (2021) |
| 12.3 | 1 | If the solar off-grid installation used is powerful enough, small fridges or other food storing appliances might be powered and thus potentially reduce food waste. | - |
| 12.4 | -3 to 3 | While reducing the unsound disposal of dry-cell batteries, solar off-grid installations and their batteries need to be disposed/recycled safely as well, otherwise they cause harmful effects on human health and the environment. | Grimm et al. (2016), Manhart et al. (2018), Feron (2016) |
| 12.5 | -1 to 1 | Solar off-grid installations reduce the waste generated in the form of dry-cell batteries in the baseline. However, the repair, re-use and recycling of solar systems and PV batteries is highly contextual. | Stojanovski et al. (2017), Manhart, A. and Latt, K. and Hilbert, I. (2018), Cross and Murray (2018), Bisaga et al. (2021), Groenewoudt and Romijn (2022) |
| 15.1 | 0 | | - |
| 15.2 | 0 | | - |
| 15.3 | 0 | No interaction identified. | - |
| 15.5 | 0 | | - |
| 15.9 | 0 | | - |

Note: A list with explanations of the targets can be found in Table 9 in the Annex.

4.4 Water filters

This section presents and discusses the assessment of sustainable development impacts of the project type water filters.

Water filter projects are defined here as projects that deploy point-of-use water filters at household level, which allow purification of water in rural areas with no water supply network in place. Water filters are typically designed as hybrid filtration systems which comprise multiple layers. Our project type definition compromises ceramic filters (impregnated with nanoparticles of silver or copper) with an activated carbon cartridge, since these components are commonly deployed by VCM water filter projects.

In calculating emission reductions from VCM projects, carbon crediting programs usually allow projects to assume that, in the baseline, participant households boil their water for disinfection purposes or start to do so in the future. This assumption - referred to as a 'suppressed demand' baseline - allows these projects to claim significant emission reductions from avoided burning of non-renewable biomass or fossil fuels. In practice, however, projects implemented in the VCM often take place in regions which include households without any resources to treat water at all. By contrast, the concept of 'suppressed demand' baselines assumes that - once the region has progressed to a higher level of development - all households would switch to the practice of boiling water. Consequently, it is argued that including those households which lack access to water treatment for resource reasons in the project's emission reduction calculations is justifiable in order not to wait until the additional emissions occur but to prevent them in the first place.

The assumed baseline scenario also greatly affects sustainable development outcomes, albeit in totally different ways: many sustainable development benefits only occur if the water is not disinfected in the baseline scenario. We therefore split the following assessment by separately scoring the application of water filters compared to the practice of boiling water (Table 8, column 2) and compared to a situation in which water is not treated at all (Table 8, column 3). This allows us to be more precise in describing the baseline-specific impacts

of the project type on the selected SDG targets (Table 8, column 4).

It should be noted that the global demand for bottled water as another source of affordable safe drinking water is rising quickly (Cohen and Ray 2018). Although there are GHG emissions linked to the production and transportation of bottled water, they are much lower than the emissions associated with boiling water. This potential baseline scenario is not considered in VCM methodologies. Therefore - and in order to reduce the complexity of the assessment - we do not consider this scenario.

Similarly to the matter of stove stacking in ICS projects (section 1.1), it is crucial that water filters are used as the predominant water purification tool and over a long-term period for both GHG mitigation and sustainable development outcomes to materialize. Again, as the monitoring of VCM projects incorporates changes in filter adoption and use patterns over time, we do not consider the time dimension of the project type, thereby reducing contextuality.

One limitation of the following assessment is the scarce availability of literature on water filters and their contribution to sustainable development. Although they are the subject of increasing interest, water filter projects to date do not come close to the relevance of our other three project types within the context of the VCM, which might explain the unsatisfactory quantity of literature at hand. To strengthen the foundation of our scoring, the assessment of this section will be based on the official documents of six selected VCM water filter projects as a third component, complementary to the expert input and the limited evidence retrieved from the literature.

We selected these projects from the Gold Standard since this is the only larger programme which both envisages the documentation of SDG contributions and incorporates water filter projects. We identified the six projects through a key word search of 'water filter' and 'filtration' in the relevant project type categories in the Gold Standard Impact Registry⁷. Among the 20 projects identified, we selected the six projects characterized in

Gold Standard Impact Registry: https://registry.goldstandard.org



Table 7, with the aim of covering different geographic locations, project scales and credit periods. The limitation of this approach is that its findings must be regarded as indicative only since the projects might not

entirely match our project definition with regards to filter composition.

Table 7: Overview of selected water filter projects

| Gold Standard ID | Country | Scale | Crediting period start |
|-------------------------|-----------|-------------|------------------------|
| 1332 | Honduras | Micro-scale | Aug 04, 2012 |
| 2095 | Lao PDR | Small-scale | Jul 16, 2019 |
| 4290 | Indonesia | Small-scale | Mar 01, 2014 |
| 5796 | Haiti | Micro-scale | Jan 01, 2015 |
| 7571 | Uganda | Micro-scale | Apr 01, 2019 |
| 11207 | Kenya | Large-scale | Oct 09, 2020 |

Source: Gold Standard Impact Registry: https://registry.goldstandard.org

For this project type, we have identified eight (eleven) positive or potentially positive impacts of the project type against the baseline of boiled water (untreated water). Only for target 12.5, negative implications might arise. Regarding target 3.9 - and target 6.1 when comparing to boiled water - the impact can go in either direction. The project type does not have any significant interaction with 25 (23) of the 36 targets against the baseline of boiled water (untreated water).

The wide ranges of scores on target 3.9 reflect that there are various effects to consider in terms of the health benefits from reduced pollution (SDG 3). Compared to boiling water, it must be noted that ceramic filters have their strengths and weaknesses as they enable their users to also remove solid contaminants such as iron, nitrates and microplastics but cannot protect from viruses to the degree that boiling does. It is therefore necessary to know which water-borne contaminants are locally present to determine whether water filters are preferable to boiling water. The range further extends to plus 2 for reducing smoke levels in the kitchen whereas the negative end of the range of minus 2 also accounts for concerns about arsenic traces leached out of ceramic filters.

If the affected households relied on **untreated water**, the relative improvement of water quality is more distinct as water is utterly unsafe in the baseline. Consequently, the significant improvement is reflected in the

monitoring reports of the single projects revised, which determine a great number of households reporting a reduction of water-borne diseases. The only negative effect compared to untreated water is the above-mentioned arsenic leakage which might emerge from some ceramic filters, potentially causing serious health issues. Thus, the score ranges from minus 1 to plus 3.

Interestingly, the projects GS5796 and GS1332 (Table 7) report that the households they have supplied with filters perceived both a 100% reduction of smoke levels and a 100% reduction of water-borne diseases, thereby claiming impacts against both baselines at the same time, which appears contradictory.

Regarding gender equality and women empowerment

(SDG 5), there are indications of water-related projects benefitting from women engagement, which might in turn benefit women from additional entrepreneurial and employment opportunities. Since it is particularly women who are responsible for fuelwood collection and cooking, **replacing water boiling** also helps to reduce women's time poverty. However, the fuelwood reduction from implementing water filters alone cannot be significant enough to fundamentally alleviate women's time poverty, though this might change when accompanied with the implementation of an improved cookstove. Thus, target 5.1 bears a score of plus 2, regardless of the baseline.

The evident but relatively small fuelwood savings also affect other targets, most importantly resource efficiency (target 12.2), which therefore brings about a score of plus 1. Although positive influences can be expected for the targets 6.6 (protection of water-related ecosystems), 8.4 (decoupling economic growth from environmental degradation) and the forest-related targets under SDG 15 (life on land), we cannot deem the small savings as significant enough to benefit whole ecosystems or - with regards to 8.4 - influence the character of the overall economy. Therefore, no substantial interactions with these targets are identified.

In conclusion, it should be noted that water filter projects, as defined in this paper, have by far the fewest interactions or impacts with the selected SDG targets. Where there are impacts, they are often context-dependent and consequently lead to varying scores, which is especially true for target 3.9. If replacing boiling practices, water filters can lead to fuelwood savings - which are, however, less significant as for ICS. Finally and most importantly - it must be emphasized that the impact of the project type on some targets depends highly on the underlying baseline.



Table 8: Sustainable development impacts of water filter projects

| SDG target | Score - boiled water | Score - untreated water | Key findings | Literature sources in addition to expert input |
|---------------|----------------------------|-------------------------------|---|--|
| 1.1 | | | The deployment of water filters replacing water boiling entails significant monetary savings from reduced fuelwood consumption. | |
| 1.2 | 2 | 0 to 1 | Furthermore, communities can potentially escape poverty by crafting and selling ceramic filters. However, in reality, many of these filters are crafted and sold by large companies, which would not directly benefit the income of poor communities. | GS (2019b; 2020b) |
| 1.4 | 0 | 2 | Compared to untreated water , the use of water filters directly benefits the access of poor communities to basic water services. Using filters, they can also better manage the water resources available to them. | - |
| 2.1 | 0 | 1 | Replacing untreated water , water filters can reduce water-borne diseases (see target 3.9), which may trigger enteric dysfunction, i.e. the malabsorption of nutrients. Thus, treating water can avoid undernutrition. | UN Water (2018) |
| 2.3 | 0 | 0 | No interaction identified. | - |
| 2.4 | 0 | 0 | | - |
| 3.4 | 0 | 0 | | - |
| 3.9 | -2 to 2 | -1 to 3 | Water filter projects refer to high user numbers reporting a reduce in water-borne diseases (if they used untreated water before), coughing, itchy eyes and smoke levels in their kitchen (if they boiled water before). Boiling water and using water filters can affect water quality in different ways depending on the local conditions. There are also indicators of arsenic traces leached out of ceramic filters. | WHO (2019), Clasen et al. (2015), Wolf et al. (2014), Hut- ton and Chase (2016), GS (2019a; 2020a; 2020b) |
| 4.2 | 0 | 1 | There are links between diarrhoea — a water-borne disease — and children struggling with nutrient malabsorption. Thus, early childhood development can benefit from water filters replacing untreated water . Furthermore, the reduction of water-borne diseases could improve school attendance in some contexts. | Hutton and Chase (2016) |
| 4.3 | 0 | 1 | The reduction of water-borne diseases from untreated water could improve school attendance in some contexts. | Hutton and Chase (2016) |
| 5.1 | 2 | 2 | There is evidence that water-related services can be more effective when women have an active role in implementation and operation. This endows them with various entrepreneurial and employment opportunities. Since it is particularly women who are responsible for fuelwood collection and cooking, replacing water boiling also helps to reduce women's time poverty and thereby creates opportunities for occupational engagement. | Fisher (2006), Mazorra et al. (2020), Aemro et al. (2021) |

| SDG target | Score - boiled water | Score - untreated water | Key findings | Literature sources in addition to expert input |
|---------------|----------------------------|-------------------------------|--|--|
| 6.1 | -2 to 1 | 2 | Compared to boiling water , the filtration technologies commonly used by VCM projects can have both advantages, such as solid contaminant removal, and shortcomings, such as declining effectiveness and viruses bypassing the filtration. For households, which have previously relied on untreated water , filters can improve access to drinking water. | UN Water (2018), WHO (2019), WHO (2017), WHO (2018), GS (2022; 2019b; 2020b; 2021) |
| 6.3 | 0 | 0 | | - |
| 6.4 | 0 | 0 | | - |
| 6.6 | 0 | 0 | No interaction identified. | - |
| 7.1 | 0 | 0 | | - |
| 7.2 | 0 | 0 | | - |
| 7.3 | 1 | 0 | Water filters can increase energy efficiency by reducing the practice of boiling water . However, the fuelwood savings are relatively small (especially compared to savings from ICS). | - |
| 8.3 | 0 to 1 | 0 to 1 | There can be job opportunities connected to water filter projects. However, in reality, many of these filters are crafted and sold by large companies. | Karhunmaa (2016) |
| 8.4 | 0 | 0 | No interaction identified. | - |
| 8.5 | 0 to 1 | 0 to 1 | See 8.3. | GS (2019a; 2019b; 2020a; 2020b; 2021) |
| 9.2 | 0 | 0 | No interaction identified. | - |
| 9.4 | 0 | 0 | No interaction identified. | - |
| 10.1 | 0 to 1 | 0 to 1 | If the potential for job creation comes about (see 8.3), the bottom 40% of the population could particularly benefit. | - |
| 11.1 | 0 | 0 | | - |
| 11.4 | 0 | 0 | No interaction identified. | - |
| 11.6 | 0 | 0 | | - |



| SDG target | Score - boiled water | Score - untreated water | Key findings | Literature sources in addition to expert input |
|---------------|----------------------------|-------------------------------|--|--|
| 12.2 | 1 | 0 | Water filters replacing boiling practices can increase resource efficiency by reducing the demand for fuelwood. Considering the amount of fuelwood needed to boil water, the impact is relatively small (e.g. compared to ICS). | GS (2021) |
| 12.3 | 0 | 0 | No interaction identified. | - |
| 12.4 | 0 | 0 | | - |
| 12.5 | -1 to 0 | -1 to 0 | Depending on the filter type and its components, it might not be practicable to re-use or recycle the water filters after their lifetime. | - |
| 15.1 | 0 | 0 | No interaction identified. | - |
| 15.2 | 0 | 0 | | - |
| 15.3 | 0 | 0 | | - |
| 15.5 | 0 | 0 | | - |
| 15.9 | 0 | 0 | | - |

Note: A list with explanations of the targets can be found in Table 9 in the Annex.

4.5 Contextual aspects and cross-cutting findings

Overall, sustainable development impacts are highly contextual. Individual project designs differ as well as the local conditions in different countries. The results of the assessment therefore depend on the individual circumstances of projects. Aspects which affect the robustness of the findings are, for example, biophysical circumstances (such as local climate, water availability, proximity of villages to afforested area), governance (like national targets/programs), or vulnerability (such as risks to afforested areas, livelihood needs).

Furthermore, sustainable development impacts might vary throughout time. For example, the use of ICS and water filters is dependent on behavioural change. Their use might decline over time, if they are not suited to the needs of the households, resulting in an increase of stove stacking or the return to traditional cookstoves (see section 1.1). Expected SDG impacts might vanish in the long run if this is not accounted for. The time-dimensional aspect also concerns the other project types. In the case of solar off-grid installations, the efficient use of materials crucially depends on the lifetime of the installation and how it is taken care of. Likewise, as there is a lack of evidence regarding the disposal of offgrid solar systems - since they have often been installed recently and are therefore usually still in use - sound disposal remains an open question. Forests in turn take time to grow and build up a carbon sink. Thus, also the ecosystem services related to afforested areas do not materialize from the beginning. Risks to the GHG removal potential of afforested areas, e.g. through fires, also affect related sustainable development impacts. The time dimension is, however, beyond the scope of this assessment due to its complexity and uncertainty. Potential changes over time are ideally monitored in carbon credit projects and accounted for in quantification methodologies. The time-dimensional aspect should also be taken into account more thoroughly in program methodologies to evaluate SDG impacts.

The following methodological issues also pertain to all project type assessments:

Firstly, from the literature review and the input from the experts it became evident that impacts on SDG 9 (industry, innovation and infrastructure) are mainly relevant for industrial-scale projects. For none of the four assessed project types, the impact was identified as significant enough to deliver progress on targets 9.2 and 9.4. Therefore, these targets receive a score of zero for all project types. Any future assessment using the method applied here might only include these targets for large-scale VCM projects (e.g. hydro power).

Secondly, target 15.9 on "integrat[ing] ecosystem and biodiversity values into national and local planning, development processes, poverty reduction strategies and accounts" also does not seem relevant for VCM projects. The target concerns the establishment of public national or local programs and targets. While VCM projects may contribute to any existing national targets, it is unlikely that VCM projects trigger the establishment of such targets. Future evaluations following the method of this paper might refrain from including this target in the analysis.

Thirdly and more broadly, we acknowledge that the impacts identified for a particular SDG target can partly depend on our underlying interpretation of this very target, which in turn might deviate from what the wording of the higher-level SDG or the lower-level target indicators suggest. For example, since we have generally taken the SDG targets as our point of reference, we did not assign afforestation projects an interaction with target 6.6, which calls for the protection and restoration of water-related ecosystems, including forests. As, according to our project definition, afforestation takes place on non-forest land, it has no impact on either the protection of present water-related ecosystems or the restoration of former ones. Although the fact that afforestation is going to create new water-related ecosystems cannot consequently be considered as an impact on target 6.6, this would have been different if we had based our SDG target interpretation on the respective target indicators. Then, afforestation would have achieved a positive score on the same target since the indicator 6.6.1 only measures the general "change in the extent of water-related ecosystems" (United Nations 2015a), which would have been positively influenced by planting new forests.

A further challenge of assessing sustainable development outcomes at the SDG target level is the distinction between single targets. On the one hand, there are targets which only seem to specify others while still addressing the same problem. This is especially the case



for target 15.2, which calls for promoting forests and thus can be considered as a means to achieving target 6.6 (the protection and restoration of water-related ecosystems). Also, the targets 6.1 (access to safe and affordable drinking water) and 7.1 (access to affordable, reliable and modern energy) can be regarded as key elements of what target 1.4 demands - the rights to economic resources and the access to basic services. On the other hand, we face imprecise distinctions between the targets 8.4 and 12.2, which both deal with resource efficiency in consumption and production, and the targets 1.1., 1.2, 8.3 and 8.5, all of which intend to tackle poverty and livelihood issues.

Finally, a potential shortcoming is that the literature is mostly not specifically related to the VCM but assesses the impacts of the respective technology or practice more broadly and may use different assumptions regarding the baseline scenario. For example, our assessment of the impact of ICS on target 3.9 draws on

literature which deals with the general capability of ICS to reduce HAP, regardless of whether the ICS were implemented in the context of the VCM. It is conceivable, however, that the context of the project implementation affects the extent to which HAP is reduced through the choice of the model of the new cookstove and its quality, or through the selection of the beneficiary households. In the case of ICS, we have partly based our literature findings on cookstove interventions by nongovernmental organizations (NGOs) and public development programs, and on experimental interventions, such as Randomized Control Trials (RCTs), which try to imitate the settings of real interventions. To avoid potential biases arising from this, we took two corrective measures. Firstly, we excluded aspects which obviously apply to non-VCM contexts only, and secondly, we discussed critical questions with the experts, who helped to put our literature findings in the relevant context.

5. Conclusions and recommendations

The results of our assessment show that all the selected project types clearly have positive sustainable development impacts beyond GHG emission reductions. Positive impacts were identified for one third to about half of the 36 analyzed SDG targets, depending on the project type. Interestingly, we identified only a few negative scores. The majority of these negative scores might only apply in certain contexts - which is indicated by the given ranges. For example, off-grid PV projects might negatively impact target 12.4 (environmentally sound management of chemicals and all wastes) if solar installations are inappropriately disposed or recycled at the end of their life. We could not identify significant impacts from water filter projects on over half of the targets. For the other three project types, no interactions could be identified for about one third of targets respectively.

Sustainable development impacts are, however, difficult to generalize. A key finding of the analysis is that sustainable development impacts are highly contextual. Generalized impacts identified in this report might vary for individual projects in different local contexts. This holds in particular for afforestation projects: the context-dependent variation in impacts is reflected in the high number of score ranges for afforestation.

ICS projects seem to positively influence the highest number of targets. Additionally, many of the positive interactions also received high scores. Interestingly, the estimated reduction in air pollution from deploying ICS is still insufficient to meet WHO recommendations. The assessment also identified many positive sustainable development impacts of off-grid PV projects, with the main drawback being the end-of-life treatment of the installations. Even though water filter projects are gaining increasing attention in the VCM, we could not identify a large number of impacts. The sustainable development impact of water filter projects particularly depends on the baseline scenario: boiling water or using untreated water result in very different sustainable development impacts (for example regarding health benefits).

A range of methodological insights can be drawn from this report. The choice of SDG targets and the exact project definition (including baseline scenario) significantly influence the identified sustainable development impacts. Careful consideration should be given to the selection of SDG targets in any future assessments of this kind. A thorough definition of the project type can help to clarify the impacts as broad project type definitions can lead to an increase in score ranges. A too narrow definition of a project type might restrict the applicability of the assessment to particular circumstances. Furthermore, the use of the SDG framework provides a useful and systematic assessment of sustainable development impacts. However, the identified impacts also depend on the interpretation of the phrasing of individual goals, targets and indicators.

The time horizon is also an important consideration for assessing sustainable development impacts. For all project types, the impact can significantly change depending on how the devices and installations are maintained throughout the lifetime of the project or how the afforested land is managed and preserved in the long run. Therefore, the results are constrained by the uncertainties about the long-term development of the impacts and only present the short-term impacts.

Finally, due to the fact that project types were generalized, and assumptions were made in the project definitions, the findings are associated with uncertainty. The results from this paper can be used as an indication of the number and the kind of SDG impacts which can be typically expected from the four project types. Buyers of carbon credits are encouraged to always seek out project-specific information to assess whether the generalized impacts presented here are applicable to the respective project in question.

Programs in the VCM differ in their requirements to assess and achieve sustainable development impacts. An evaluation of programs for this matter can be found in Wissner and Schneider (2022). Carbon credit buyers can achieve further assurance on sustainable development impacts by choosing a carbon crediting program that has robust environmental and social safeguards and provides for a sound assessment of sustainable



development impacts.⁸ Wissner and Schneider (2022) further include a list of project and programmatic aspects carbon credit buyers can pay attention to.

⁸ The Carbon Credit Quality Initiative gives an overview of the quality of carbon credits from different programs: https://carboncreditquality.org/

6. References

- Aemro, Y. B.; Moura, P.; Almeida, A. T. de (2021): Inefficient cooking systems a challenge for sustainable development: a case of rural areas of Sub-Saharan Africa. In: *Environ Dev Sustain* 23 (10), pp. 14697–14721. DOI: 10.1007/s10668-021-01266-7.
- Aju, P. C. (2014): The role of forestry in agriculture and food security. In: *American Journal of Research Communication* 2 (6), pp. 109–121. Online available at http://www.usa-journals.com/wp-content/uploads/2014/05/Aju_Vol26.pdf, last accessed on 21.04.22.
- Allnutt, T. F.; Ferrier, S.; Manion, G.; Powell, G. V. N.; Ricketts, T. H.; Fisher, B. L.; Harper, G. J.; Irwin, M. E.; Kremen, C.; Labat, J.-N.; Lees, D. C.; Pearce, T. A.; Rakotondrainibe, F. (2008): A method for quantifying biodiversity loss and its application to a 50-year record of deforestation across Madagascar. In: *Conservation Letters* 1 (4), pp. 173–181. DOI: 10.1111/j.1755-263X.2008.00027.x.
- Amegah, A. K. and Jaakkola, J. J. K. (2016): Household air pollution and the sustainable development goals. In: *Bulletin of the World Health Organization* 94 (3), pp. 215–221. DOI: 10.2471/BLT.15.155812.
- Amezaga, J.; Bathurst, J.; Iroumé, A.; Jones, J.; Kotru, R.; Bhatta, L. D.; Springgay, E. (2019): SDG 6: Clean Water and Sanitation Forest-Related Targets and Their Impacts on Forests and People. In: Pierce Colfer, C. J.; Winkel, G.; Galloway, G.; Pacheco, P.; Katila, P. and Jong, W. de (ed.): Sustainable Development Goals: Their Impacts on Forests and People. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, pp. 178–205. Online available at https://www.cambridge.org/core/books/sustainable-development-goals-their-impacts-on-forests-and-people/sdg-6-clean-water-and-sanitation-forestrelated-targets-and-their-impacts-on-forests-and-people/sdg-6-clean-water-ple/89E64DFD009283EEB6553EF8841A9988.
- Angelsen, A.; Jagger, P.; Babigumira, R.; Belcher, B.; Hogarth, N. J.; Bauch, S.; Börner, J.; Smith-Hall, C.; Wunder, S. (2014): Environmental Income and Rural Livelihoods: A Global-Comparative Analysis. In: *World Development* 64 (Suppl 1), S12-S28. DOI: 10.1016/j.worlddev.2014.03.006.
- Arora-Jonsson, S.; Agarwal, S.; Pierce Colfer, C. J.; Keene, S.; Kurian, P.; Larson, A. M. (2019): SDG 5: Gender Equality A Precondition for Sustainable Forestry. In: Pierce Colfer, C. J.; Winkel, G.; Galloway, G.; Pacheco, P.; Katila, P. and Jong, W. de (ed.): Sustainable Development Goals: Their Impacts on Forests and People. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, pp. 146–177. Online available at https://www.cambridge.org/core/books/sustainable-development-goals-their-impacts-on-forests-and-people/sdg-5-gender-equality-a-precondition-for-sustainable-forestry/404C863FEA0BB058A6020CBB733D6541.
- Asaduzzaman, M.; Yunus, M.; Haque, A.; Azad, A. A.; Neelormi, S.; Hossain, M. A. (2013): Power from the sun: An evaluation of institutional effectiveness and impact of solar home systems in Bangladesh. Final Report submitted to the World Bank. Bangladesh Institute of Development Studies. Dhaka, Bangladesh, 2013.
- Bailis, R.; Drigo, R.; Ghilardi, A.; Masera, O. (2015): The carbon footprint of traditional woodfuels. In: *Nature Clim Change* 5 (3), pp. 266–272. DOI: 10.1038/nclimate2491.
- Bensch, G. and Peters, J. (2015): The intensive margin of technology adoption Experimental evidence on improved cooking stoves in rural Senegal. In: *Journal of Health Economics* 42, pp. 44–63. DOI: 10.1016/j.jhealeco.2015.03.006.



- Bisaga, I. M. (2019): Scaling up off-grid solar energy access through improved understanding of customers' needs, aspirations and energy use of decentralised (SMART) Solar Home Systems a case study of BBOXX customers in Rwanda. Doctoral thesis (Ph.D), supervised by Parikh, P., UCL (University College London), 2019. Online available at https://discovery.ucl.ac.uk/id/eprint/10069395/, last accessed on 26.04.22.
- Bisaga, I.; Parikh, P.; Tomei, J.; To, L. S. (2021): Mapping synergies and trade-offs between energy and the sustainable development goals: A case study of off-grid solar energy in Rwanda. In: *Energy Policy* 149. DOI: 10.1016/j.enpol.2020.112028.
- Boyer-Rechlin, B. (2010): Women in forestry: A study of Kenya's Green Belt Movement and Nepal's Community Forestry Program. In: *Scandinavian Journal of Forest Research* 25 (sup9), pp. 69–72. DOI: 10.1080/02827581.2010.506768.
- Braden, S.; Olsen, K.; Verles, M. (2019): Assessment of sustainable development approaches for use in Article 6, Sustainable Development Initiative. UNEP DTU; Gold Standard Foundation, 2019. Online available at https://unepdtu.org/wp-content/uploads/2019/11/sd-dialogue-report-sd-assessment-in-article-6-context.pdf, last accessed on 15 Jul 2021.
- Cheng, S. H.; Ahlroth, S.; Onder, S.; Shyamsundar, P.; Garside, R.; Kristjanson, P.; McKinnon, M. C.; Miller, D. C. (2017): What is the evidence for the contribution of forests to poverty alleviation? A systematic map protocol. In: *Environ Evid* 6 (1), pp. 1–11. DOI: 10.1186/s13750-017-0088-9.
- Clasen, T. F.; Alexander, K. T.; Sinclair, D.; Boisson, S.; Peletz, R.; Chang, H. H.; Majorin, F.; Cairncross, S. (2015): Interventions to improve water quality for preventing diarrhoea. In: *The Cochrane database of systematic reviews* (10), CD004794. DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD004794.pub3.
- Cohen, A. and Ray, I. (2018): The global risks of increasing reliance on bottled water. In: *Nat Sustain* 1 (7), pp. 327–329. DOI: 10.1038/s41893-018-0098-9.
- Cross, J. and Murray, D. (2018): The afterlives of solar power: Waste and repair off the grid in Kenya. In: *Energy Research & Social Science* 44, pp. 100–109. DOI: 10.1016/j.erss.2018.04.034.
- Day, T.; Schiefer, T.; Tewari, R.; Kachi, A.; Warnecke, C.; Mooldijk, S.; Dransfeld, B.; Wehner, S.; Brauhardt, L. (2020): Indicators for the promotion of sustainable development in carbon market mechanisms. In collaboration with New Climate Institute and the greenwerk. Umweltbundesamt, 2020. Online available at https://www.umweltbundesamt.de/publikationen/indicators-for-the-promotion-of-sustainable, last accessed on 28 Sep 2021.
- Dherani, M.; Pope, D.; Mascarenhas, M.; Smith, K. R.; Weber, M.; Bruce, N. (2008): Indoor air pollution from unprocessed solid fuel use and pneumonia risk in children aged under five years: a systematic review and meta-analysis.

 In: Bulletin of the World Health Organization 86 (5), 390-398C. DOI: 10.2471/blt.07.044529.
- Ecosystem Marketplace (2021a): Markets in Motion, State of the Voluntary Carbon Markets 2021 (Ecosystem Marketplace Insights Report), 2021. Online available at https://www.ecosystemmarketplace.com/publications/state-of-the-voluntary-carbon-markets-2021/, last accessed on 18 Oct 2021.

- Ecosystem Marketplace (2021b): Voluntary Carbon Markets Top \$1 Billion in 2021 with Newly Reported Trades, a Special Ecosystem Marketplace COP26 Bulletin, 2021. Online available at https://www.ecosystemmarketplace.com/articles/voluntary-carbon-markets-top-1-billion-in-2021-with-newly-reported-trades-special-ecosystem-market-place-cop26-bulletin/, last accessed on 22 Apr 2022.
- Ellison, D.; Morris, C. E.; Locatelli, B.; Sheil, D.; Cohen, J.; Murdiyarso, D.; Gutierrez, V.; van Noordwijk, M.; Creed, I. F.; Pokorny, J.; Gaveau, D.; Spracklen, D. V.; Tobella, A. B. et al. (2017): Trees, forests and water: Cool insights for a hot world. In: *Global Environmental Change* 43, pp. 51–61. DOI: 10.1016/j.gloenvcha.2017.01.002.
- ESMAP Energy Sector Management Assistance Program (2015): The state of the global clean and improved cooking sector, Technical report 007/15. In collaboration with Global Alliance for Clean Cookstoves, 2015. Online available at https://openknowledge.worldbank.org/bitstream/han-dle/10986/21878/96499.pdf?sa=t&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&source=web&cd=1&cad=rja&uact=8&ved=0ahUKEwjR4Y2Kw NrYAhUQaVAKHScDC-AQFggnMAA&url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.sciencedirect.com%2Fscience%2Farticle%2Fpii%2FS0973082617309857&usg=AOvVaw32ECn_IInbxoxCDXIM7L66, last accessed on 12 May 2022.
- Feron, S. (2016): Sustainability of Off-Grid Photovoltaic Systems for Rural Electrification in Developing Countries: A Review. In: *Sustainability* 8 (12), p. 1326. DOI: 10.3390/su8121326.
- Fisher, J. (2006): For her it's the big issue, Putting women at the centre of water supply, sanitation and hygiene (Water, Sanitation and Hygiene: Evience report). Water Supply and Sanitation Collaborative Council, 2006. Online available at https://repository.lboro.ac.uk/articles/report/For_her_it_s_the_big_issue_putting_women_at_the_centre_of_water_supply_sanitation_and_hygiene_/9461102, last accessed on 25.04.22.
- García-Frapolli, E.; Schilmann, A.; Berrueta, V. M.; Riojas-Rodríguez, H.; Edwards, R. D.; Johnson, M.; Guevara-Sanginés, A.; Armendariz, C.; Masera, O. (2010): Beyond fuelwood savings: Valuing the economic benefits of introducing improved biomass cookstoves in the Purépecha region of Mexico. In: *Ecological Economics* 69 (12), pp. 2598–2605. DOI: 10.1016/j.ecolecon.2010.08.004.
- Gervais, E.; Herceg, S.; Nold, S.; Weiß, K.-A. (2021): Sustainability strategies for PV: framework, status and needs. In: *EPJ Photovolt*. 12, p. 5. DOI: 10.1051/epjpv/2021005.
- Giam, X. (2017): Global biodiversity loss from tropical deforestation. In: *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 114 (23), pp. 5775–5777. DOI: 10.1073/pnas.1706264114.
- Grimm, M.; Munyehirwe, A.; Peters, J.; Sievert, M. (2016): A First Step up the Energy Ladder? Low Cost Solar Kits and Household's Welfare in Rural Rwanda. In: *World Bank Econ Rev* 31 (3), 631-649. DOI: 10.1093/wber/lhw052.
- Groenewoudt, A. C. and Romijn, H. A. (2022): Limits of the corporate-led market approach to off-grid energy access: A review. In: *Environmental Innovation and Societal Transitions* 42, pp. 27–43. DOI: 10.1016/j.eist.2021.10.027.
- Groenewoudt, A. C.; Romijn, H. A.; Alkemade, F. (2020): From fake solar to full service: An empirical analysis of the solar home systems market in Uganda. In: *Energy for Sustainable Development* 58, pp. 100–111. DOI: 10.1016/j.esd.2020.07.004.
- GS Gold Standard (2019a): Native Energy Clean Water Programme Central America: VPA (03) Haiti (GS5796) (version 1) (Monitoring report, 2nd monitoring period), 2019.
- GS Gold Standard (2019b): Nazava Water Filter Project (GS4290) (version 2.0) (Monitoring report, 1st monitoring period), 2019. Online available at https://platform.sustain-cert.com/public-project/782.



- GS Gold Standard (2020a): Native Energy Hydraid BioSand Water Filter Programme Central America: VPA (01) Honduras (GS1332) (version 3) (Monitoring report, 7th monitoring period), 2020. Online available at https://platform.sustain-cert.com/public-project/204.
- GS Gold Standard (2020b): TerraClear Ceramic Water Purifier Project in Lao PDR (GS2095) (version 4.1) (Monitoring report, 4th monitoring period), 2020. Online available at https://platform.sustain-cert.com/public-project/318.
- GS Gold Standard (2021): Spouts-5 by Believegreen LLC (GS7571) (version 5) (Monitoring report, 1st monitoring period), 2021. Online available at https://platform.sustain-cert.com/public-project/1849.
- GS Gold Standard (2022): Multi-Layer Household Water Filtration System in Kenya (GS11207) (version 5) (Monitoring report, 1st monitoring period), 2022. Online available at https://platform.sustain-cert.com/public-project/2435.
- Gutiérrez Rodríguez, L.; Hogarth, N. J.; Zhou, W.; Xie, C.; Zhang, K.; Putzel, L. (2016): China's conversion of cropland to forest program: a systematic review of the environmental and socioeconomic effects. In: *Environ Evid* 5 (1). DOI: 10.1186/s13750-016-0071-x.
- Hanna, R.; Duflo, E.; Greenstone, M. (2016): Up in Smoke: The Influence of Household Behavior on the Long-Run Impact of Improved Cooking Stoves. In: *American Economic Journal: Economic Policy* 8 (1), pp. 80–114. DOI: 10.3386/w18033.
- Hernández-Orozco, E.; Lobos-Alva, I.; Cardenas-Vélez, M.; Purkey, D.; Nilsson, M.; Martin, P. (2022): The application of soft systems thinking in SDG interaction studies: a comparison between SDG interactions at national and subnational levels in Colombia. In: *Environ Dev Sustain* 24 (6), pp. 8930–8964. DOI: 10.1007/s10668-021-01808-z.
- Hutton, G. and Chase, C. (2016): The Knowledge Base for Achieving the Sustainable Development Goal Targets on Water Supply, Sanitation and Hygiene. In: *International journal of environmental research and public health* 13 (6). DOI: 10.3390/ijerph13060536.
- ICAT Initiative for Climate Action Transparency (2020): Transformational Change Methodology, 2020. Online available at https://climateactiontransparency.org/our-work/icat-toolbox/assessment-guides/transformational-change/, last accessed on 4 Jan 2021.
- Ilstedt, U.; Bargués Tobella, A.; Bazié, H. R.; Bayala, J.; Verbeeten, E.; Nyberg, G.; Sanou, J.; Benegas, L.; Murdiyarso, D.; Laudon, H.; Sheil, D.; Malmer, A. (2016): Intermediate tree cover can maximize groundwater recharge in the seasonally dry tropics. In: *Sci Rep* 6 (21930). DOI: 10.1038/srep21930.
- Imu, N. J.; Ezeamama, A.; Matemilola, S. (2021): Assessment of energy and emissions saving impact of solar PV modules: a case study of Bangladesh. In: *International Journal of Building Pathology and Adaptation. DOI:* 10.1108/IJBPA-10-2020-0086.
- International Council of Science (2017): A Guide to SDG Interactions: From Science to Implementation. International Council of Science, 2017. Online available at https://council.science/wp-content/uploads/2017/05/SDGs-Guide-to-Interactions.pdf, last accessed on 28 Sep 2021.

- IRENA International Renewable Energy Agency (2018): Off-grid renewable energy solutions: global and regional status and trends, 2018. Online available at https://www.irena.org/-/media/Files/IRENA/Agency/Publication/2018/Jul/IRENA_Off-grid_RE_Solutions_2018.pdf, last accessed on 26.04.22.
- Jackson, R. B.; Jobbágy, E. G.; Avissar, R.; Roy, S. B.; Barrett, D. J.; Cook, C. W.; Farley, K. A.; Le Maitre, D. C.; McCarl, B. A.; Murray, B. C. (2005): Trading water for carbon with biological carbon sequestration. In: *Science* 310 (5756), pp. 1944–1947. DOI: 10.1126/science.1119282.
- Kammila, S.; Kappen, J. F.; Rysankova, D.; Hyseni, B.; Putti, V. R. (2014): Clean and improved cooking in Sub-Saharan Africa: A landscape report. World Bank Group. Washington, DC, 2014. Online available at https://openknowledge.worldbank.org/handle/10986/22521, last accessed on 25.04.22.
- Karanja, A. and Gasparatos, A. (2019): Adoption and impacts of clean bioenergy cookstoves in Kenya. In: *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews* 102, pp. 285–306. DOI: 10.1016/j.rser.2018.12.006.
- Karhunmaa, K. (2016): Opening up storylines of co-benefits in voluntary carbon markets: An analysis of household energy technology projects in developing countries. In: *Energy Research & Social Science* 14, pp. 71–79. DOI: 10.1016/j.erss.2016.01.011.
- Kelly, C. A. (2018): School absenteeism in Karonga district, northern Malawi: Trends, influences and the impact of cleaner burning biomass-fuelled cookstoves, London School of Hygiene & Tropical Medicine, 2018.
- Kim, G.; Kim, J.; Ko, Y.; Eyman, O. T. G.; Chowdhury, S.; Adiwal, J.; Lee, W.; Son, Y. (2021): How Do Nature-Based Solutions Improve Environmental and Socio-Economic Resilience to Achieve the Sustainable Development Goals? Reforestation and Afforestation Cases from the Republic of Korea. In: *Sustainability* 13 (21). DOI: 10.3390/su132112171.
- Kizilcec, V. and Parikh, P. (2020): Solar Home Systems: A comprehensive literature review for Sub-Saharan Africa. In: Energy for Sustainable Development 58, pp. 78–89. DOI: 10.1016/j.esd.2020.07.010.
- Kolenda, M. C.; Olsen, K. H.; Hewlett, O.; Braden, S. (2020): System Change: Transformative design of Article 6 programmes for net zero emissions by 2050. In: *Carbon Mechanisms Review* 11 (3), pp. 14–20. Online available at https://orbit.dtu.dk/en/publications/system-change-transformative-design-of-article-6-programmes-for-n.
- Krause, T. and Tilker, A. (2022): How the loss of forest fauna undermines the achievement of the SDGs. In: *Ambio* 51 (1), pp. 103–113. DOI: 10.1007/s13280-021-01547-5.
- Macqueen, D.; Bolin, A.; Greijmans, M.; Grouwels, S.; Humphries, S. (2020): Innovations towards prosperity emerging in locally controlled forest business models and prospects for scaling up. In: *World Development* 125 (104382). DOI: 10.1016/j.worlddev.2018.08.004.
- Manhart, A. and Latt, K. and Hilbert, I. (2018): Report on the Fact Finding Mission on the Management and Recycling of End-of-life Batteries used in Solar Home Systems in Myanmar. Oeko-Institut, 2018. Online available at https://www.oeko.de/fileadmin/oekodoc/Batteries-from-SHS-Myanmar.pdf, last accessed on 26.04.22.
- Manhart, A.; Magalini, F.; Hinchliffe, D. (2018): End-of-Life Management of Batteries in the Off-Grid Solar Sector, How to deal with hazardous battery waste from solar power projects in developing countries? Publication commissioned by: GIZ Sector Project Concepts for Sustainable Solid Waste Management and Circular Economy; developed in collaboration with Energising Development (EnDev), 2018. Online available at https://www.oeko.de/publikationen/p-details/end-of-life-management-of-batteries-in-the-off-grid-solar-sector-1, last accessed on 26.04.22.



- Mazorra, J.; Sánchez-Jacob, E.; La Sota, C. de; Fernández, L.; Lumbreras, J. (2020): A comprehensive analysis of cooking solutions co-benefits at household level: Healthy lives and well-being, gender and climate change. In: *Science of The Total Environment* 707, p. 135968. DOI: 10.1016/j.scitotenv.2019.135968.
- McFarlane, R. A.; Barry, J.; Cissé, G.; Gislason, M.; Gruca, M.; Higgs, K.; Horwitz, P.; Huu Nguyen, G.; O'Sullivan, J.; Sahu, S.; Butler, C. D. (2019): SDG 3: Good Health and Well-Being Framing Targets to Maximise Co-Benefits for Forests and People. In: Pierce Colfer, C. J.; Winkel, G.; Galloway, G.; Pacheco, P.; Katila, P. and Jong, W. de (ed.): Sustainable Development Goals: Their Impacts on Forests and People. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, pp. 72–107. Online available at https://www.cambridge.org/core/books/sustainable-development-goals-their-impacts-on-forests-and-people/sdg-3-good-health-and-wellbeing-framing-targets-to-maximise-cobenefits-for-forests-and-people/6D76443EBA7BF9B2A9153424A4D5D8A7.
- Miller, D. C.; Mansourian, S.; Wildburger, C. (ed.) (2020): Forests, Trees and the Eradication of Poverty: Potential and Limitations, A Global Assessment Report, International Union of Forest Research Organizations (IUFRO World Series, 39). Vienna. Online available at https://www.iufro.org/news/article/2020/10/15/world-series-vol-39-forests-trees-and-the-eradication-of-poverty-potential-and-limitations/, last accessed on 21.04.22.
- Mills, E. (2016): Identifying and reducing the health and safety impacts of fuel-based lighting. In: *Energy for Sustainable Development* 30, pp. 39–50. DOI: 10.1016/j.esd.2015.11.002.
- Muller, A. (2009): Sustainable agriculture and the production of biomass for energy use. In: *Clim.Change* 94 (3-4), pp. 319–331. DOI: 10.1007/s10584-008-9501-2.
- Nilsson, M.; Griggs, D.; Visbeck, M. (2016): Map the interactions between sustainable development goals, Comment in Nature 534, 2016. Online available at https://www.nature.com/articles/534320a.pdf, last accessed on 21 Sep 2021.
- Obersteiner, M.; Walsh, B.; Frank, S.; Havlík, P.; Cantele, M.; Liu, J.; Palazzo, A.; Herrero, M.; Lu, Y.; Mosnier, A.; Valin, H.; Riahi, K.; Kraxner, F. et al. (2016): Assessing the land resource-food price nexus of the Sustainable Development Goals. In: *Science advances* 2 (9), e1501499. DOI: 10.1126/sciadv.1501499.
- Olubayo, B. and Oguegbu, G. (2020): Empowering Nigerian Women through Solar PV Training and Installation. In: *International Journal of Strategic Energy and Environmental Planning*, pp. 69–79.
- Ortega, N.; Curto, A.; Dimitrova, A.; Nunes, J.; Rasella, D.; Sacoor, C.; Tonne, C. (2021): Health and environmental impacts of replacing kerosene-based lighting with renewable electricity in East Africa. In: *Energy for Sustainable Development* 63, pp. 16–23. DOI: 10.1016/j.esd.2021.05.004.
- Pope, D.; Bruce, N.; Dherani, M.; Jagoe, K.; Rehfuess, E. (2017): Real-life effectiveness of 'improved' stoves and clean fuels in reducing PM2.5 and CO: Systematic review and meta-analysis. In: *Environment International* 101, pp. 7–18. DOI: 10.1016/j.envint.2017.01.012.
- Pueyo, A. (2020): Introduction: Gender and Energy Opportunities for All. In: *IDS Bulletin* 51 (1), pp. 1–6. DOI: 10.19088/1968-2020.102.

- Rahman, S. M. and Ahmad, M. M. (2013): Solar Home System (SHS) in rural Bangladesh: Ornamentation or fact of development? In: *Energy Policy* 63, pp. 348–354. DOI: 10.1016/j.enpol.2013.08.041.
- Romieu, I.; Riojas-Rodríguez, H.; Marrón-Mares, A. T.; Schilmann, A.; Perez-Padilla, R.; Masera, O. (2009): Improved biomass stove intervention in rural Mexico: impact on the respiratory health of women. In: *American journal of respiratory and critical care medicine* 180 (7), pp. 649–656. DOI: 10.1164/rccm.200810-1556OC.
- Rosenthal, J.; Quinn, A.; Grieshop, A. P.; Pillarisetti, A.; Glass, R. I. (2018): Clean cooking and the SDGs: Integrated analytical approaches to guide energy interventions for health and environment goals. In: *Energy for Sustainable Development* 42, pp. 152–159. DOI: 10.1016/j.esd.2017.11.003.
- Rowland, D.; Ickowitz, A.; Powell, B.; Nasi, R.; Sunderland, T. (2017): Forest foods and healthy diets: quantifying the contributions. In: *Environmental Conservation* 44 (2), pp. 102–114. DOI: 10.1017/S0376892916000151.
- Roy, J.; Tschakert, P.; Waisman, H.; Abdul Halim, S.; Antwi-Agyei, P.; Dasgupta, P.; Hayward, B.; Kanninen, M.; Liverman, D. (2018): Sustainable Development, Poverty Eradication and Reducing Inequalities, Chapter 5. In: Global Warming of 1.5 °C. An IPCC special report on the impacts of global warming of 1.5 °C above pre-industrial levels and related global greenhouse gas emission pathways, in the context of strengthening the global response to the threat of climate change, sustainable development, and efforts to eradicate poverty. Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC). Online available at https://www.ipcc.ch/site/assets/up-loads/sites/2/2019/06/SR15_Full_Report_High_Res.pdf, last accessed on 31 Aug 2021.
- Ruiz-Mercado, I. and Masera, O. (2015): Patterns of stove use in the context of fuel-device stacking: rationale and implications. In: *EcoHealth* 12 (1), pp. 42–56. DOI: 10.1007/s10393-015-1009-4.
- Sagbo, N. S. M. (2014): Economic Analysis and Willingness to Pay for Alternative Charcoal and Clean Cook Stoves in Haiti, 2014. Online available at https://uknowledge.uky.edu/agecon_etds/28, last accessed on 25.04.22.
- Schilmann, A.; Riojas-Rodríguez, H.; Catalán-Vázquez, M.; Estevez-García, J. A.; Masera, O.; Berrueta-Soriano, V.; Armendariz-Arnez, C.; Pérez-Padilla, R.; Cortez-Lugo, M.; Rodríguez-Dozal, S.; Romieu, I. (2019): A follow-up study after an improved cookstove intervention in rural Mexico: Estimation of household energy use and chronic PM2.5 exposure. In: *Environment International* 131, p. 105013. DOI: 10.1016/j.envint.2019.105013.
- Schneider, L.; Fallasch, F.; Leon, F. de; Rambharos, M.; Progscha, S.; Schallert, B.; Holler, J.; Kizzier, K.; Petsonk, A.; Hanafi, A.; Barata, P.; Stuart, W. (2021): Methodology for assessing the quality of carbon credits. Oeko-Institut; World Wide Fund for Nature; Environmental Defense Fund, 2021. Online available at https://carboncreditquality.org/download/MethodologyForAssessingTheQualityOfCarbonCredits.pdf, last accessed on 21 Sep 2021.
- Seddon, N.; Chausson, A.; Berry, P.; Girardin, C. A. J.; Smith, A.; Turner, B. (2020): Understanding the value and limits of nature-based solutions to climate change and other global challenges. In: *Philosophical transactions of the Royal Society of London. Series B, Biological sciences* 375 (1794). DOI: 10.1098/rstb.2019.0120.
- Shammin, M. R. and Haque, A. (2022): Small-Scale Solar Solutions for Energy Resilience in Bangladesh. In: Haque, A.; Mukhopadhyay, P.; Nepal, M. and Shammin, M. R. (ed.): Climate Change and Community Resilience: Insights from South Asia. Singapore: Springer, pp. 205–224.
- Shankar, A.; Johnson, M.; Kay, E.; Pannu, R.; Beltramo, T.; Derby, E.; Harrell, S.; Davis, C.; Petach, H. (2014): Maximizing the benefits of improved cookstoves: moving from acquisition to correct and consistent use. In: *Glob Health Sci Pract* 2 (3), pp. 268–274. DOI: 10.9745/GHSP-D-14-00060.



- Smith, K. R.; Bruce, N.; Balakrishnan, K.; Adair-Rohani, H.; Balmes, J.; Chafe, Z.; Dherani, M.; Hosgood, H. D.; Mehta, S.; Pope, D.; Rehfuess, E. (2014): Millions dead: how do we know and what does it mean? Methods used in the comparative risk assessment of household air pollution. In: *Annual review of public health* 35, pp. 185–206. DOI: 10.1146/annurev-publhealth-032013-182356.
- Smith, P.; Haberl, H.; Popp, A.; Erb, K.-H. H.; Lauk, C.; Harper, R.; Tubiello, F. N.; De Siqueira Pinto, Alexandre; Jafari, M.; Sohi, S.; Masera, O.; Böttcher, H.; Berndes, G. et al. (2013): How much land-based greenhouse gas mitigation can be achieved without compromising food security and environmental goals? In: *Glob. Change Biol.* 19 (8), pp. 2285–2302. DOI: 10.1111/gcb.12160.
- Sovacool, B. K. (2012): The political economy of energy poverty: A review of key challenges. In: *Energy for Sustainable Development* 16 (3), pp. 272–282. DOI: 10.1016/j.esd.2012.05.006.
- Stojanovski, O.; Thurber, M.; Wolak, F. (2017): Rural energy access through solar home systems: Use patterns and opportunities for improvement. In: *Energy for Sustainable Development* 37, pp. 33–50. DOI: 10.1016/j.esd.2016.11.003.
- Sunderland, T. C.; Powell, B.; Ickowitz, A.; Foli, S.; Pinedo-Vasquez, M.; Nasi, R.; Padoch, C. (2013): Food security and nutrition, The role of forests (Discussion Paper). Center for International Forestry Research (CIFOR). Bogor, Indonesia, 2013. Online available at https://cgspace.cgiar.org/handle/10568/94291, last accessed on 21.04.22.
- UN Water (2018): Sustainable Development Goal 6, Synthesis report 2018 on water and sanitation (United Nations at a glance). New York, New York, United States of America: United Nations.
- UNEP (2021): CDM Pipeline overview, UNEP. Online available at https://www.cdmpipeline.org/, last updated on 1 Jan 2022, last accessed on 22 Apr 2022.
- United Nations (2015a): Sustainable Development Goals, Webiste on the 17 Goals, United Nations. Online available at https://sdgs.un.org/goals, last accessed on 25 Apr 2022.
- United Nations (2015b): Transforming our world: the 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development. Resolution 70/1 adopted by the General Assembly on 25 September 2015. Source of information: A/RES/70/1. Online available at https://sdgs.un.org/sites/default/files/publications/21252030%20Agenda%20for%20Sustainable%20Development%20web.pdf, last accessed on 4 Jan 2021.
- Vira, B.; Wildburger, C.; Mansourian, S. (ed.) (2015): Forests, Trees and Landscapes for Food Security and Nutrition, A Global Assessment Report, International Union of Forest Research Organizations (IUFRO World Series, 33). Vienna: IUFRO.
- Vivid Economics (2019): Valuating the benefits of improved cooking solutions: impact data in high resolution. Briefing note prepared for Gold Standard Foundation, 2019. Online available at https://www.vivideconomics.com/wp-content/uploads/2019/08/The-benefits-of-improved-cooking-solutions-report.pdf, last accessed on 25.04.22.
- Warnecke, C.; Day, T.; Schneider, L.; Cames, M.; Healy, S.; Harthan, R.; Tewari, R.; Höhne, N. (2017): Vulnerability of CDM projects for Discontinuation of Mitigation Activities: Assessment of Project Vulnerability and Options to Support Continued Mitigation. NewClimate Institute; Oeko-Institut. DEHSt (ed.). Berlin, 2017. Online available at

- https://www.dehst.de/SharedDocs/downloads/EN/project-mechanisms/vulnerability-of-CDM.pdf?__blob=publicationFile&v=3, last accessed on 6 Nov 2020.
- Weitz, N.; Carlsen, H.; Nilsson, M.; Skånberg, K. (2018): Towards systemic and contextual priority setting for implementing the 2030 Agenda. In: *Sustainability Science* 13 (2), pp. 531–548. Online available at https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/s11625-017-0470-0.
- WHO World Health Organization (2017): Guidelines for drinking-water quality, Fourth edition, incorporating the first addendum 4th edition. Geneva: World Health Organization. Online available at https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK442376/.
- WHO World Health Organization (2018): Alternative drinking-water disinfectants: bromine, iodine and silver. Geneva. Online available at https://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/260545/9789241513692-eng.pdf, last accessed on 25.04.22.
- WHO World Health Organization (2019): Results of round II of the WHO international scheme to evaluate household water treatment technologies. Online available at https://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/han-dle/10665/325896/9789241516037-eng.pdf.
- WHO World Health Organization (2021): Household air pollution and health, 2021. Online available at https://www.who.int/en/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/household-air-pollution-and-health, last accessed on 25.04.22.
- Winther, T.; Ulsrud, K.; Saini, A. (2018): Solar powered electricity access: Implications for women's empowerment in rural Kenya. In: *Energy Research & Social Science* 44, pp. 61–74. DOI: 10.1016/j.erss.2018.04.017.
- Wissner, N. and Schneider, L. (2022): Ensuring safeguards and assessing sustainable development impacts in the voluntary carbon market, An overview of approaches. Oeko-Institut. Stiftung Allianz für Entwicklung und Klima (ed.), 2022. Online available at https://allianz-entwicklung-klima.de/wp-content/uploads/2022/03/220301_Stiftung_Allianz_oeko_Ensuring_-safeguards.pdf, last accessed on 14 Mar 2022.
- Wolf, J.; Prüss-Ustün, A.; Cumming, O.; Bartram, J.; Bonjour, S.; Cairncross, S.; Clasen, T.; Colford, J. M.; Curtis, V.; France, J. de; Fewtrell, L.; Freeman, M. C.; Gordon, B. et al. (2014): Assessing the impact of drinking water and sanitation on diarrhoeal disease in low- and middle-income settings: systematic review and meta-regression. In: *Tropical medicine & international health:* TM & IH 19 (8), pp. 928–942. DOI: 10.1111/tmi.12331.
- World Health Organization (2016): Burning opportunity: clean household energy for health, sustainable development, and wellbeing of women and children, World Health Organization: World Health Organization. Online available at https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/204717, last accessed on 25.04.22.
- Zhang, Y.andOchieng, C. (2020): Understanding cookstove and fuel stacking to achieve SDG7, World Bank Blogs. World Bank (ed.). Online available at https://blogs.worldbank.org/energy/understanding-cookstove-and-fuel-stacking-achieve-sdg7.



Annex I

Table 9: List of targets selected for the assessment

| SDG | Target | Target explanation |
|-----------------------------------|--------|--|
| 1 - No poverty | 1.1 | By 2030, eradicate extreme poverty for all people everywhere, currently measured as people living on less than \$1.25 a day. |
| 1 - No poverty | 1.2 | By 2030, reduce at least by half the proportion of men, women and children of all ages living in poverty in all its dimensions according to national definitions. |
| 1 - No poverty | 1.4 | By 2030, ensure that all men and women, in particular the poor and the vulnerable, have equal rights to economic resources, as well as access to basic services, ownership and control over land and other forms of property, inheritance, natural resources, appropriate new technology and financial services, including microfinance. |
| 2 - Zero hunger | 2.1 | By 2030, end hunger and ensure access by all people, in particular the poor and people in vulnerable situations, including infants, to safe, nutritious and sufficient food all year round. |
| 2 - Zero hunger | 2.3 | By 2030, double the agricultural productivity and incomes of small-scale food producers, in particular women, indigenous peoples, family farmers, pastoralists and fishers, including through secure and equal access to land, other productive resources and inputs, knowledge, financial services, markets and opportunities for value addition and non-farm employment. |
| 2 - Zero hunger | 2.4 | By 2030, ensure sustainable food production systems and implement resilient agricultural practices that increase productivity and production, that help maintain ecosystems, that strengthen capacity for adaptation to climate change, extreme weather, drought, flooding and other disasters and that progressively improve land and soil quality. |
| 3 - Good health and well-being | 3.4 | By 2030, reduce by one third premature mortality from non-communicable diseases through prevention and treatment and promote mental health and well-being. |
| 3 - Good health and well-being | 3.9 | By 2030, substantially reduce the number of deaths and illnesses from hazardous chemicals and air, water and soil pollution and contamination. |
| 4 - Quality education | 4.2 | By 2030, ensure that all girls and boys have access to quality early childhood development, care and pre-primary education so that they are ready for primary education. |
| 4 - Quality education | 4.3 | By 2030, ensure equal access for all women and men to affordable and quality technical, vocational and tertiary education, including university. |
| 5 - Gender equality | 5.1 | End all forms of discrimination against all women and girls everywhere. |
| 6 - Clean water and sanitation | 6.1 | By 2030, achieve universal and equitable access to safe and affordable drinking water for all. |
| 6 - Clean water and sanitation | 6.3 | By 2030, improve water quality by reducing pollution, eliminating dumping and minimizing release of hazardous chemicals and materials, halving the proportion of untreated wastewater and substantially increasing recycling and safe re-use globally. |
| 6 - Clean water and sanitation | 6.4 | By 2030, substantially increase water-use efficiency across all sectors and ensure sustainable withdrawals and supply of freshwater to address water scarcity and substantially reduce the number of people suffering from water scarcity. |
| 6 - Clean water and sanitation | 6.6 | By 2020, protect and restore water-related ecosystems, including mountains, forests, wetlands, rivers, aquifers and lakes. |

| 7 - Affordable and clean energy | 7.1 | By 2030, ensure universal access to affordable, reliable and modern energy services. |
|---|------|---|
| 7 - Affordable and clean energy | 7.2 | By 2030, increase substantially the share of renewable energy in the global energy mix. |
| 7 - Affordable and clean energy | 7.3 | By 2030, double the global rate of improvement in energy efficiency. |
| 8 - Decent work and economic growth | 8.3 | Promote development-oriented policies that support productive activities, decent job creation, entrepreneurship, creativity and innovation, and encourage the formalization and growth of micro-, small- and medium-sized enterprises, including through access to financial services. |
| 8 - Decent work and economic growth | 8.4 | Improve progressively, through 2030, global resource efficiency in consumption and production and endeavour to decouple economic growth from environmental degradation, in accordance with the 10-year framework of programmes on sustainable consumption and production, with developed countries taking the lead. |
| 8 - Decent work and economic growth | 8.5 | By 2030, achieve full and productive employment and decent work for all women and men, including for young people and persons with disabilities, and equal pay for work of equal value. |
| 9 - Industry, inno- vation and infra- structure | 9.2 | Promote inclusive and sustainable industrialization and, by 2030, significantly raise industry's share of employment and gross domestic product, in line with national circumstances, and double its share in least developed countries. |
| 9 - Industry, innovation and infrastructure | 9.4 | By 2030, upgrade infrastructure and retrofit industries to make them sustainable, with increased re-source-use efficiency and greater adoption of clean and environmentally sound technologies and industrial processes, with all countries taking action in accordance with their respective capabilities. |
| 10 - Reduced ine- qualities | 10.1 | By 2030, progressively achieve and sustain income growth of the bottom 40 per cent of the population at a rate higher than the national average. |
| 11 - Sustainable cities and communities | 11.1 | By 2030, ensure access for all to adequate, safe and affordable housing and basic services and upgrade slums. |
| 11 - Sustainable cities and communities | 11.4 | Strengthen efforts to protect and safeguard the world's cultural and natural heritage. |
| 11 - Sustainable cities and communities | 11.6 | By 2030, reduce the adverse per capita environmental impact of cities, including by paying special attention to air quality and municipal and other waste management. |
| 12 - Responsible consumption and production | 12.2 | By 2030, achieve the sustainable management and efficient use of natural resources. |
| 12 - Responsible consumption and production | 12.3 | By 2030, halve per capita global food waste at the retail and consumer levels and reduce food losses along production and supply chains, including post-harvest losses. |
| 12 - Responsible consumption and production | 12.4 | By 2020, achieve the environmentally sound management of chemicals and all wastes throughout their life cycle, in accordance with agreed international frameworks, and significantly reduce their release to air, water and soil in order to minimize their adverse impacts on human health and the environment. |
| 12 - Responsible consumption and production | 12.5 | By 2030, substantially reduce waste generation through prevention, reduction, recycling and re-use. |
| 15 - Life on land | 15.1 | By 2020, ensure the conservation, restoration and sustainable use of terrestrial and inland freshwater ecosystems and their services, in particular forests, wetlands, mountains and drylands, in line with obligations under international agreements. |
| | | |



| 15 - Life on land | 15.2 | By 2020, promote the implementation of sustainable management of all types of forests, halt deforestation, restore degraded forests and substantially increase afforestation and reforestation globally. |
|-------------------|------|--|
| 15 - Life on land | 15.3 | By 2030, combat desertification, restore degraded land and soil, including land affected by desertification, drought and floods, and strive to achieve a land degradation-neutral world. |
| 15 - Life on land | 15.5 | Take urgent and significant action to reduce the degradation of natural habitats, halt the loss of biodiversity and, by 2020, protect and prevent the extinction of threatened species. |
| 15 - Life on land | 15.9 | By 2020, integrate ecosystem and biodiversity values into national and local planning, development processes, poverty reduction strategies and accounts. |

Source: United Nations (2015a)







Imprint

Authors

Nora Wissner, Dr. Lambert Schneider, Hannes Jung (Oeko-Institut e.V.)

Efraim Hernández Orozco, Elvine Kwamboka, Francis X. Johnson, Stefan Bößner (Stockholm Environment Institute)

Contact

Web: www.oeko.de E-Mail: info@oeko.de

Head Office Freiburg P. O. Box 17 71 79017 Freiburg

Street address Merzhauser Straße 173 79100 Freiburg Phone +49 761 45295-0

Office Berlin Borkumstraße 2 13189 Berlin Phone +49 30 405085-0

Office Darmstadt Rheinstraße 95 64295 Darmstadt Phone +49 6151 8191-0

Design cover photo

Studio Kunst GmbH

Photo credit

Thomas Okfen/GIZ, myclimate, iStock.com/Violeta Stoimenova, ForestFinest Consulting, South Pole

Layout

AKRYL digital agency GmbH